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          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Good morning. My

          3  name is Christine Quinn. I'm the Chair of the City's

          4  Health Committee. I'm sorry we're a little delayed

          5  in getting this started this morning. There was a

          6  number of breakfast events and some Council Members

          7  are out, so people will be joining us shortly. But I

          8  want to thank everyone for being here today.

          9                 I think, as you all know, we're here

         10  today to have our first hearing on a bill that has

         11  been given the name the Health Care Security Act.

         12  And we are having this hearing and we've introduced

         13  this bill for a couple of very important reasons.

         14  Right now in the City, state and country there is a

         15  crisis as it relates to health care. And there is a

         16  crisis in the fact that right now in New York City,

         17  a quarter of the City's population is uninsured.

         18                 When you say that, people think that

         19  must be people who don't have jobs. That those

         20  people are unemployed. But the reality is that a

         21  very significant portion of the uninsured in this

         22  City and in this country are people who go to work

         23  every single day, sometimes six and seven days a

         24  week, work very, very hard and don't get the full

         25  pay and benefits that they should be getting, in my

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  opinion, as working people. And you end up having

          3  people who are working very, very hard to support

          4  their families, but aren't able to take care of

          5  their own health care needs or their families health

          6  care needs.

          7                 In New York City, we are lucky in

          8  that we have a high percentage of unionized

          9  employees and in some sectors in this City, a high

         10  percentage of employer's union and non- union who do

         11  provide insurance to their workers. We're here today

         12  to talk about and what the Health Care Security Act

         13  focuses on is that reality, that there are a quarter

         14  of our residents who are uninsured. And we simply as

         15  New York City government cannot sit by and allow

         16  that reality to exist without our intervention. It

         17  would be shirking our responsibility to our

         18  constituents. But also, as a City of New York, we

         19  need to realize from an economic and a business

         20  perspective that when businesses who give and

         21  provide insurance are treated exactly the same way

         22  as those who are cutting corners and not being as

         23  fair to their employees and don't give insurance.

         24  When those companies are treated exactly the same,

         25  you are in fact punishing people who are doing the
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          2  right thing. Because when a business is treated the

          3  same way whether they give insurance or they don't

          4  give insurance, businesses are existing on an

          5  unlevel playing field. Of course, a business can

          6  make more money and have greater profits and perhaps

          7  look better on a balance sheet or better in a City

          8  contracting process if they're not providing

          9  benefits. They have less cost.

         10                 We need to make sure that in this

         11  City, people who are doing the right thing,

         12  companies that are doing the right thing and

         13  providing insurance are treated fairly and what

         14  we're doing today in addition to, I hope, moving

         15  towards expanding the amount of coverage and care

         16  for people is also leveling the playing field for

         17  businesses who are doing the right thing. The other

         18  reality in New York City is we, are very lucky and

         19  we have had to fight for a very long time to

         20  preserve it, but we have a terrific public health

         21  system in this City. In the form of Health and

         22  Hospitals Corporation and the clinics that are run

         23  by our Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. So

         24  for folks who are uninsured, thank God, there is a

         25  place that they can go for care. But that care isn't
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          2  free. The reality that some companies aren't

          3  providing benefits means that their workers will go

          4  to HHC or Department of Health Clinics to get care.

          5  And that care will be paid for by the tax payers.

          6                 In fact, in many cases, the same

          7  worker who is going there for care who isn't getting

          8  insurance is subsidizing their own care and others

          9  through their tax payer dollars. And that reality of

         10  workers without insurance coming to our public

         11  system has a price tag for the City of New York and

         12  the City's tax payers. So our bill today if enacted,

         13  would require employees in a couple of sectors; the

         14  building services, grocery, construction, industrial

         15  laundry, and hotel industries to either provide

         16  insurance to their employees or to pay a fee to the

         17  City. And that fee would be used to administer the

         18  health care that those employees would inevitably

         19  receive in our public hospitals or in the Department

         20  of Health Clinics.

         21                 You might think, why only those

         22  sectors. We're focusing on those sectors because

         23  those are sectors which have a highly unionized

         24  workforce and have a workforce which union and non-

         25  union has the health care benefits that workers
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          2  deserve. If you have someone, let's say, I'll pick a

          3  name out of the thin air, Wal-Mart, who entered that

          4  arena without providing probably in many cases even

          5  wages, but we'll be kind today and say didn't

          6  provide benefits; they would grossly skew the

          7  economics of that industry. And place those decent

          8  employers in that industry at risk of not being able

          9  to keep up and perhaps ending up even having to lay

         10  people off or close down some of their stores

         11  because the Wal-Mart's of the world are driving us

         12  to the least common dominator and taking a race to

         13  the bottom for employees and workers in their own

         14  quest to make their bank accounts and the boss's

         15  bank accounts as large as possible.

         16                 We're here today to send a message to

         17  those type of businesses. If you're going to come

         18  into New York City, we're going to make sure you

         19  play fair and that we have a fair and level playing

         20  field. And also to send a message to workers that

         21  we're going to do everything we can to make sure you

         22  get the health care you deserve. And also we are

         23  going to make sure our Health and Hospitals

         24  Corporation has the financial resources it needs to

         25  cover workers and all New Yorkers who are uninsured.

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 I look forward today to hearing from

          3  the Administration, from many diverse and

          4  distinguish group of New Yorkers who are supportive

          5  of the bill; from some folks who have concerns about

          6  the bill and would like us to listen to their

          7  concerns. And you can always make legislation

          8  better. I think that will be a constructive process.

          9  And also to hear from workers who are actually the

         10  people who are experiencing the problem we are

         11  trying to solve today.

         12                 I want to say that there a couple of

         13  very important New Yorkers who were not able to be

         14  with us today but have submitted testimony for the

         15  record. Former Deputy Mayor Stanley Bresnoth

         16  (phonetic) who is the past President of Maimonides

         17  Hospital and is presently the President and CEO of

         18  Continuum Health Partners. He is somebody who knows

         19  a little bit about how to administer government and

         20  a little bit about healthcare, has submitted

         21  testimony for the record in full support of Intro

         22  468. He thinks it's not only a good business step, a

         23  good health care model, but a model he believes New

         24  York City government would be able to administer

         25  efficiently and effectively which I think he
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          2  certainly is someone who would know that well.

          3                 We also have testimony from Professor

          4  Donald Light at Columbia University School of Public

          5  Health at the Center for the Health of Urban

          6  Minorities also in support of the bill and testimony

          7  from David Jones, the President of the Community

          8  Services Society of New York, also in support of the

          9  bill. Also, I have testimony from the United

         10  Hospital Fund and their testimony really is data and

         11  background which I think gives us an umbrella

         12  information about how really this severe this

         13  problem is today in New York City and sets the

         14  framework for the crisis we're in and why we need to

         15  respond so quickly.

         16                 I want to say we've been joined by my

         17  colleague from Queens, Council Member Joe Addabbo

         18  who is the really terrific Chair of our Civil

         19  Service and Labor Committee. Thank you. Do you want

         20  to say anything? Please, go right ahead.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         22  Madam Chair. I appreciate your hearing on this. Good

         23  morning everyone and just as Chair of Labor

         24  Committee, again I believe that the workers who work

         25  so hard and are dedicated deserve something for
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          2  their hard work and that's health care. I think they

          3  deserve that in fair setting not only for them, but

          4  for their employer and that's why I am a proud

          5  sponsor of Intro 468. I'm glad to be here. Thank you

          6  very much. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

          8  much. I'm going to call up our first panel which is

          9  a representative from the Mayor's Office of Health

         10  Insurance Access, Marjorie Cadogan is the Executive

         11  Director. When you hear us referring to MOHIA, that

         12  is the acronym for the office. At the end of the day

         13  yesterday, when I was meeting with my staff, they

         14  kept saying MOHIA and I was like why are they

         15  talking about mohito's and drinks and we're not

         16  having drinks at the hearing at 10:00 in the

         17  morning. It's MOHIA, not mohito's. I know you're

         18  disappointed, Jack. I know. And also a

         19  representative from the Department of Small Business

         20  Services. The testimony will be delivered by MOHIA

         21  and Small Business Services. We thank them for being

         22  here today to answer questions. Please come right on

         23  up.

         24                 MS. CADOGAN: Good morning. Thank you

         25  very much, Council Member Quinn, Council Member
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          2  Addabbo. Good morning. I am Marjorie Cadogan, the

          3  Executive Director of the Mayor's Office of Health

          4  Insurance Access. With me this morning is Michael

          5  Hecht, Assistant Commissioner for New York Business

          6  Solutions at the Department of Small Business

          7  Services. I thank you for the opportunity to speak

          8  here today on Intro 468, the Health Care Security

          9  Act.

         10                 We welcome this opportunity to

         11  address an issue that is on the forefront of

         12  concerns to families, businesses, unions, and

         13  legislators alike; affordable health insurance

         14  coverage. We know we have this goal in common. We

         15  also recognize that what will work best for New York

         16  is not only a consensus on the goal, but the means

         17  to achieve it. We have carefully reviewed and

         18  considered this legislation and we have several

         19  overall concerns. Intro 468, as proposed does not

         20  acknowledge the investments the City now makes to

         21  ensure access to health care for New Yorkers; the

         22  City's financial contributions to public health

         23  insurance programs; the availability of the unique

         24  health insurance options that exist for New York

         25  City small businesses, sole proprietors and
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          2  individuals, and the role that DSBS and MOHIA is

          3  playing in promoting these options in cooperation

          4  with the New York State Department of Insurance.

          5                 New York City's and New York State's

          6  successes in expanding access to health insurance

          7  coverage have not singled out individual business

          8  sectors in favor of others. Instead, they have

          9  relied on forging multi- sector partnerships,

         10  maximizing federal participation, and paying close

         11  attention to cost and affordability. This

         12  legislation does not rely on these factors which are

         13  fundamental to any effort to expand health insurance

         14  coverage. Intro 468 also assigns New York City a

         15  role held by no municipality and does so by imposing

         16  a financial liability which would inevitably be

         17  borne by the City.

         18                 Before I elaborate on these issues, I

         19  would like to address significant questions relating

         20  to the legality of Intro 468. First, it's not clear

         21  that the charge imposed on employers is a fee, as

         22  characterized in the bill, rather than a tax which

         23  cannot be imposed in the absence of State enabling

         24  legislation. Second, it appears that 468 is

         25  preempted by the federal Employment Retirement and
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          2  Security Act (ERISA), which regulates employer

          3  health benefit funds. And third, Intro 468 curtails

          4  the Mayor's powers under the City Charter by giving

          5  these powers, in specific instances, to the Council

          6  and the Comptroller, and therefore could not take

          7  effect unless approved by referendum.

          8                 Let me discuss, however, 468 in the

          9  context of the history of health insurance expansion

         10  in New York. In recent years, New York State has

         11  introduced major insurance expansion initiatives and

         12  the Council Member was key in noting them and

         13  without exception, these efforts have all involved

         14  strategic partnerships among the City and State

         15  government, health care and business sectors, and

         16  unions. Results of these collaborations are evident:

         17  Creative and successful programs such as Family

         18  Health Plus, Disaster Relief Medicaid, and the

         19  Medicaid Buy- In Program for Working People with

         20  Disabilities. Relevant here is Healthy New York,

         21  designed as an affordable option for employers

         22  across industry sectors to offer health insurance to

         23  low- wage earners.

         24                 In New York City, we're also steadily

         25  improving access to quality health care. The City's
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          2  efforts to identify people eligible for public

          3  health insurance programs have resulted in an

          4  unprecedented number of enrollments. Over 2.6

          5  million people are now enrolled in New York City in

          6  these programs, an increase of 800,000 people over

          7  three years. We've also improved access to quality

          8  health care by continually expanding the capacity of

          9  the City's Health and Hospital Corporation. Taken

         10  together, the City's financial support for public

         11  health insurance coverage and direct care provided

         12  by HHC are projected to be nearly $5 billion in

         13  fiscal year 2006.

         14                 In considering any private health

         15  insurance expansion initiative, it is critically

         16  important to explore the capacity to build on what

         17  already exists. As you know, there are five health

         18  insurance options, specifically for small businesses

         19  and individuals, created by a variety of

         20  partnerships between the private and public sectors.

         21  These options, HealthPass, Healthy New York, Working

         22  Today, Brooklyn Health Works, and LIA Health

         23  Alliance, offer eligible New Yorkers quality health

         24  insurance choices beyond accessing insurance

         25  directly from an insurance agent or broker.
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          2  HealthPass, which now insures roughly 8,000

          3  employees and more than 6,000 additional family

          4  members in nearly 2,000 businesses, was an incubator

          5  project of the Mayor's Office. Since its inception,

          6  the City has spent $4.1 million to develop

          7  HealthPass and now provides almost $400,000 to

          8  foster this initiative.

          9                 Over the past year, MOHIA has

         10  intensified its own efforts to promote these growing

         11  initiatives. We have developed a Guide to Health

         12  Insurance Options for Small Businesses and Sole

         13  Proprietors and Individuals, which provides

         14  important information on evaluating health insurance

         15  options and summarizes these five special programs.

         16  The guide is available on our website, which was

         17  expanded last year to include additional information

         18  to assist small businesses and individuals in

         19  obtaining health insurance. Businesses can also

         20  obtain a copy of this guide by calling the City's

         21  hotline, 311. Working in close partnership with

         22  DSBS, we have conducted seminars to educate

         23  businesses and organizations that serve them about

         24  these special options. We are also working to

         25  maximize the capacity of DSBS staff to communicate
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          2  important information on health insurance access to

          3  businesses that they serve.

          4                 We are, however, fully aware that

          5  many working adults and their families remain

          6  uninsured because they are ineligible for public

          7  health insurance and do not have access to employer-

          8  sponsored coverage. Uninsured workers can be found

          9  in every industry. Given the prevalence of the

         10  problem across industries, it would be unfair to

         11  workers and business owners for the City to single

         12  out any group of industries.

         13                 There is consensus by the private and

         14  public sectors throughout the country that cost is

         15  the number one barrier to expanding coverage.

         16  According to a 2003 Commonwealth Fund survey, the

         17  average premium cost for employer- sponsored health

         18  benefits in the City is $3,500 a year for individual

         19  coverage and nearly $10,000 a year for family

         20  coverage. Small businesses typically face costs that

         21  are higher than these averages and individuals

         22  purchasing health insurance on the private market

         23  pay an average of $6,800 for single coverage and a

         24  staggering $20,000 a year for family coverage.

         25  Moreover, premium costs have been rising rapidly,
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          2  with double- digit annual increases common in recent

          3  years. Businesses are increasingly passing on these

          4  costs to employees, either by raising the cost of

          5  the employee premium contribution or by switching to

          6  insurance plans that have lower premiums but higher

          7  out of pocket costs.

          8                 It's important to consider these

          9  costs carefully since they place enormous pressure

         10  on businesses in any industry or stage of

         11  development. Because cost is the dominant barrier to

         12  more employers providing health insurance, and

         13  public sector resources are limited by fiscal

         14  conditions currently facing both the City and the

         15  State, expanding access for low- income workers,

         16  those with the greatest economic need, should be the

         17  first priority for an employer financed system. This

         18  type of approach will result in a more equitable

         19  expansion of health insurance access than that which

         20  would result from the proposed bill, which would

         21  benefit a limited number of people in select

         22  industries. The challenge that we all face, the one

         23  that we feel this proposals fails to meet, is to

         24  create new options that are affordable for both

         25  employers and employees, and are administratively
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          2  feasible as long- term solutions.

          3                 We are also deeply concerned about

          4  some of the financial implications of the proposed

          5  legislation. Although its intent is clearly for

          6  employers to fund the entire cost of the program,

          7  the City would be financially liable as it waited

          8  for businesses to pay their assessed fees. At this

          9  point, it is difficult to assess the projected costs

         10  because so many of the administrative details remain

         11  unclear and undeveloped. What is clear, is that the

         12  program would position the City as the default

         13  payer, responsible for health care costs that are

         14  known to be difficult to control.

         15                 In order to collect the fees, the

         16  City would be forced to act in an enforcement role

         17  that would send a troubling message to businesses

         18  and jobs we are now actively trying to keep and

         19  grow. New York City needs to empower all businesses

         20  as problem solvers and contributors to a solution to

         21  this complex problem, not single out a select group

         22  of them as unwilling adversaries. At times, it makes

         23  perfect sense for the City to act entirely on its

         24  own. However, because health insurance access is so

         25  intimately tied to both state and federal programs,
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          2  as well as to trends in the private health care

          3  industry, it would be a mistake for the City to

          4  implement a program with so many serious

          5  implications in the absence of a coherent public and

          6  private sector partnership.

          7                 We call on the Council and the

          8  supporters of this legislation to work with the

          9  private and public sector partnerships that have

         10  already moved us forward in health insurance

         11  expansion. Partnerships will make it possible to

         12  realize the goal shared by all of us, to increase

         13  health insurance coverage for New Yorkers working in

         14  a broad spectrum of industries and occupations.

         15                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         16  testify today. I'm happy to answer any questions

         17  that you may have at this time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. First,

         19  I just want to say, I think you're just a little

         20  maybe missed interpreting part of the bill and

         21  saying that the bill doesn't acknowledge the quality

         22  health care programs in this City. In fact, I think

         23  it's quite the opposite. The bill doesn't say for

         24  uninsured people, we need to create a system to

         25  serve them in the public sector. It in fact says
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          2  that we have a great system and we're concerned that

          3  it is being overly taxed because there are people in

          4  the private sector who are not providing insurance

          5  and we, therefore, want to help support it through

          6  this administrative financial measure.

          7                 I just want to for the record say, I

          8  was a little bit taken back by that. I think if you

          9  look at the history of this Committee, we have been

         10  perhaps the strongest advocate in the City of New

         11  York for our present public health system. And one

         12  of the goals of this bill is to further help support

         13  it and have those employers who are pushing people

         14  to use it because it is a great place to go for

         15  health care, pay for the fair share. If there was a

         16  misunderstanding or exception taken for this bill or

         17  a misinterpretation that this bill somehow sees vast

         18  deficiencies in our public system, I'll immediately

         19  call Dr. Chu to make sure he doesn't misinterpret

         20  that. But I want to make that very clear for the

         21  record. This Committee is one of the strongest, if

         22  not the strongest, advocates for the present public

         23  health system. Our only objection ever is that they

         24  don't get enough money, enough positive press,

         25  enough attention, or enough support from Mayor's.

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 MS. CADOGAN: Council Member, I

          3  recognize the Council support for the Health and

          4  Hospital Corporation system and I recognize some of

          5  the language in the Intro that speaks to that

          6  system. What the Intro does do, however, Intro 468,

          7  is seek to create another layer of City

          8  infrastructure with regard to serving the health

          9  insurance coverage needs of a select group of

         10  industries outside of some of the opportunities that

         11  exist to work with public and private partnerships

         12  that can be expanded.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I don't think we

         14  seek and we don't need to belabor this point, I

         15  don't think we seek to create another level of

         16  infrastructure. We are seeking to create a way to

         17  help more people get coverage and also seeking a way

         18  for employers to have to pay their fair share to

         19  support the systems that deliver quality health care

         20  that get used by people who are uninsured. Maybe too

         21  technical point to go on and on about. But I don't

         22  think we're seeking to necessarily create a new

         23  infrastructure. My concern was more that there would

         24  have been a misimpression that the Committee was

         25  somehow lacking and in support of our present public
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          2  health system.

          3                 MS. CADOGAN: That's clearly not

          4  misunderstand.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Great, great. On

          6  page three on the top, you said this actually two or

          7  three times in your testimony that this bill would

          8  assign the financial liability to be borne by the

          9  City. Can you elaborate on that because we don't

         10  agree with that interpretation?

         11                 MS. CADOGAN: Well, although the

         12  parameters of the Administration of the Security Act

         13  are not clear, fully clear or fully developed, what

         14  it does require is that the City through some entity

         15  establish an administrative arm to both assess and

         16  collect fees for those industries that are

         17  designated to participate. And by that route, set up

         18  the City as an enforcer of that collection

         19  obligation and to the extent that businesses comply

         20  well that is wonderful in terms of making the

         21  revenues available to administer the program. To the

         22  extent that businesses do not comply well slowly or

         23  not at all, there is then yet an obligation to met

         24  the coverage needs of the employees that are engage

         25  and the City then is at risk of having to front that
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          2  financial cost. And that is a liability in the midst

          3  of the other liabilities that the City bears is one

          4  that places it at a risk that we're greatly

          5  concerned about.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: A couple of points

          7  or thoughts in response to that and I want to say

          8  we've been joined by our Committee Member from

          9  Queens, Council Member Helen Sears. The financial

         10  cost, whatever financial costs there are, will be we

         11  believe and our Finance Division analysis agrees

         12  will be covered by the fees that are collected. So

         13  if in liability, what you're talking about is the

         14  fiscal impact of the bill, it seems to me that is

         15  taken care of by the fee that is being covered

         16  collected, excuse me. We believe that will cover

         17  whatever financial costs may be incurred when this

         18  bill is enacted. Also, if you look at page eight of

         19  the bill on the top, it says provided that no

         20  eligibility rule shall make an employer family or

         21  family of an employee eligible. And also in

         22  addition, I think later on in that paragraph, it

         23  says that eligibility shall depend in part on need

         24  base criteria to developed by the administering

         25  agency. I think that all of that together takes care
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          2  of the liability concerns that you're raising.

          3                 MS. CADOGAN: I think in an idea world

          4  if all things as articulated in the bill were to

          5  work with great symmetry, it might. But when you're

          6  looking at setting up an infrastructure that for the

          7  City, then having to assess fees, collect fees,

          8  collect them in a way that covers their cost of

          9  administering the program and administering some

         10  level of enforcement, there is always the risk and I

         11  think we have to face the reality of that. That all

         12  things will not work equally to the City's benefit

         13  to making those costs and those risks seamless for

         14  the City. In examining, providing a benefit that is

         15  going to be as administratively and financially

         16  feasible for the City as it is in meeting the care

         17  needs of employees and also not creating not further

         18  administrative burdens for employers that they can't

         19  meet, the bill as articulated creates that concern

         20  for us.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just two things.

         22  One, I just want to say again, the intent of this

         23  bill and we don't think it does, what it would be a

         24  law create an additional financial burden on the

         25  City. We strongly believe and we can certainly have
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          2  OMB and whomever sit down with our finance people

          3  and go over the numbers, but strongly assert that

          4  the fee that's covered will pay for whatever

          5  administrative costs there may be.

          6                 MS. CADOGAN: Assuming that the fee is

          7  paid.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Pardon me?

          9                 MS. CADOGAN: Assuming that the fee is

         10  paid as developed in whatever the administrative

         11  infrastructure is for administering this.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If we in

         13  government looked at all fees that way, we would

         14  never have any. And we have a lot of fees. And this

         15  Council and this Mayor have raised a lot of fees.

         16                 MS. CADOGAN: Absolutely.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If we're not going

         18  to assess fees or raise fees because we're not sure

         19  that we have the ability to collect them, that may

         20  be a fair and responsible position. It would be a

         21  new position for this Administration and this

         22  Council. So we would have to kind of go back and

         23  say, we're no longer confident in our ability to

         24  collect fees and therefore, probably do that quickly

         25  so when the Mayor releases his preliminary budget in
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          2  January, we look at fees with a much more skeptical

          3  eye.

          4                 If what you're saying is this is the

          5  first time this fee would be collected so we need to

          6  think about whether we need to ramp up in a slower

          7  way, that seems to me a different point. But we

          8  believe in the Council that the fee will cover the

          9  administrative cost and I understand anytime you're

         10  doing something new, you need to be cautious. If one

         11  is too cautious, then we'll never do anything new.

         12  If there are problems and if it is not structured

         13  exactly right once we get into it, we can come back

         14  and re- evaluate with it and tinker with it in a

         15  legislatively technical way. But I'm not sure why

         16  now and maybe I'll get to a question, it seems now

         17  that the Administration is taking a different

         18  position on fees, the assessment, and the collection

         19  and it seems like in many of the sectors, we're

         20  talking about and I know you have concerns about the

         21  limited sectors, but we'll get to it. For one

         22  second, one why is there a switch in this fee

         23  prospective and then two, these sectors in question

         24  are ones that are highly licensed and interact with

         25  government in many different ways.
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          2                 I would think that there is a fairly,

          3  well developed, contact infrastructure between

          4  government and these sectors that would make it

          5  easier because there is pre- existing relationships

          6  to collect the fees and b), make people more likely

          7  knowing they have licenses, et cetera, et cetera and

          8  they have to continually to come back to government.

          9  Make them somewhat more likely to pay a fee that is

         10  assessed against them because they have an ongoing

         11  forever relationship with City government.

         12                 MS. CADOGAN: Acknowledging your

         13  point, Council Member, the City does collect a

         14  multiplicity of fees. And in no way am I saying that

         15  the City is changing its position in the need to

         16  collect fees where that's appropriate in given

         17  industries or in given sectors. I think you made the

         18  point yourself in your statement prefacing your

         19  question that this is a dramatically different and

         20  new fee that's proposed by this bill and that in

         21  itself should speak to the way that we administer

         22  it. The risk that pertains to any fee, however, is

         23  actually the enforcement and collection. And for

         24  this new construct and this new fee, even in

         25  industries where we have a relationship, I think we
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          2  do have to be mindful of the risk of potential

          3  liability for the City where those fees are rejected

          4  and not able to be effectively collected.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Is the answer then

          6  not to -- it seems to me then the answer would be to

          7  look at phase in or ramp up, not to say this can't

          8  be done. Because we're not sure we can do it as well

          9  as the bill says we have to. It seems to me that

         10  it's a strong response then to say let's not do it

         11  at all. I understand if you were say we need a

         12  longer phase in time; whatever. But to just kind of

         13  then step away from it, I would ask you to

         14  reconsider that. I hear your concern. And we will

         15  take it back and look at the bill and maybe there

         16  does need to be more phase in time or ramp up or

         17  something like that since its different. I think

         18  that's a point well taken. I'd ask you to reconsider

         19  your response to that point being opposition versus

         20  an expression of concern or potential amendments

         21  needed in the bill.

         22                 MS. CADOGAN: We will certainly

         23  consider your points, Council Member and the

         24  Committee's points. I think as well as our concern

         25  about the fee which is narrow as it looks at the
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          2  Intro as proposed, the concern of the singling out

          3  of business sectors when the uninsured are in very

          4  many other and major industries is another large

          5  concern that we have with Intro 468.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And we're going to

          7  get to that. But before we get to that one, let me

          8  ask another question and then I'm going to call on

          9  my colleagues and we'll come back to that one. In

         10  page four of your testimony, you talk about and

         11  throughout your testimony you talk about some of the

         12  very good programs that are out there, some that are

         13  wholly run by the government, some of them that are

         14  entities like Working Today which was created of its

         15  own innovative. The Council gives its support. I

         16  don't know if it gets funding from the

         17  Administration or not.

         18                 MS. CADOGAN: It's channeled through

         19  the Department of Small Business Services, I

         20  believe.

         21                 MR. HECHT: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's money

         23  directly from the Administration or the Council

         24  money goes through DBS?

         25                 MS. CADOGAN: Council money, I
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          2  believe.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. So some of

          4  the things you list here are actually things that

          5  the Bloomberg Administration funds or part of the

          6  government. The others like, Working Today, are ones

          7  that are supported by individuals, philanthropies

          8  and the City Council, but not necessary by the

          9  Bloomberg Administration financially.

         10                 MS. CADOGAN: With Working Today, not

         11  in financial terms, specifically. But certainly in

         12  our effort to disseminate the information, we speak

         13  to all of these programs.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And these are all

         15  great, really very, very outstanding programs that

         16  are doing a great job helping get people insured,

         17  but nonetheless we still have a quarter of our

         18  residents uninsured in this City. Further on in that

         19  testimony you talk about another and this is

         20  actually we have distributed it through Council

         21  offices, so it is actually a very helpful

         22  publication, the Guide to Health Insurance Options

         23  for Small Businesses, Sole Proprietors and

         24  Individuals.

         25                 MS. CADOGAN: Thank you, Council
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          2  Member.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You're welcome.

          4  Actually it came up in a hearing is how we got the

          5  copies of it. If you look at it and I know we have

          6  concerns about the sectors which we're going to come

          7  back around to, a lot of those aren't small

          8  businesses, sole proprietors or individuals. There

          9  is a whole bunch of people in the sectors we're

         10  talking about today and others who work for large

         11  businesses, large entities who are not insured. I

         12  think there may be different financial calculations

         13  or perhaps even philosophical calculations in why

         14  those entities don't provide insurance as opposed to

         15  some smaller entities out there. That's one thing

         16  that I urge you just to think about as you continue

         17  to review this legislation. But if you could tell me

         18  what guide or information you have particularly

         19  targeted to larger employers or larger businesses

         20  since this particular one is for small businesses.

         21  What are you giving large businesses to either help

         22  them, get insurance for their employees or have them

         23  change their mindset to begin insuring people?

         24                 MS. CADOGAN: Our focus has really

         25  been on the small business sector because we are
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          2  aware of both anecdotally and by research that they

          3  are dramatically more affected and their employees

          4  more affected by the lack of insurance and the lack

          5  of access to coverage. For larger businesses, the

          6  State Department of Insurance provides a wealth of

          7  information with regard to how to select and how to

          8  assess health insurance options and there are for

          9  large businesses perhaps a broader range of

         10  resources in the industry itself in terms of

         11  brokers, agents, and others who really help with

         12  making the financial calculations that need to be

         13  made between the needs of operations, the needs of

         14  their employees, and other needs in assessing what

         15  is affordable and doable within the business.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So there really

         17  isn't anything targeting the larger sectors right

         18  now that we're doing in City government?

         19                 MS. CADOGAN: I wouldn't say that

         20  there is something specifically directed to larger

         21  businesses because there is a wealth of resources

         22  that are already available for them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're still seeing

         24  a significant portion of individuals who work and I

         25  guess a significant portion of people who work for
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          2  larger companies still in the sectors that we're

          3  talking about today and still being uninsured. Maybe

          4  it's a smaller number, but a need out there that I

          5  would argue this a hole so to speak that this bill

          6  plugs in. It's fair to say most of the

          7  Administration's focus has been on smaller and not

          8  larger.

          9                 MS. CADOGAN: That's been a greater

         10  degree of our focus, yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And the last

         12  hearing that we had, not on this bill, but on the

         13  topic of uninsured, there was a fair amount of

         14  discussion about how some of the programs that the

         15  State had started working Chambers of Commerce, et

         16  cetera, had been working very well upstate and in

         17  other parts of New York State, but not as well as in

         18  New York City. One of the things we heard was some

         19  real challenges for employers to use those models

         20  that we're working very well in other parts of the

         21  State. Have we begun to see which certainly that

         22  information and that reality was one of the things

         23  that played into our thinking as it related to this

         24  bill. Have we seen any change in that or are we

         25  seeing those chamber type models now doing better
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          2  than they had been in the City or tracking anywhere

          3  closer to the successes that they have had upstate

          4  which unfortunately our constituents haven't been

          5  able to benefit from as much?

          6                 MS. CADOGAN: I can't say we've seen

          7  anymore new models in the City with chamber

          8  sponsored coverage. But for Brooklyn Health Works,

          9  which is ramping up steadily in terms of serving the

         10  needs of businesses in northern Brooklyn. I think

         11  one of the things that did come out in our hearing

         12  and something that we're greatly attuned to is

         13  watching the experience of Brooklyn Health Works as

         14  a template for the kind of partnership effort that

         15  involves a chamber, the health providers the State

         16  and others to make covered solution work across a

         17  broader range of sectors and industries.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But to date, we

         19  haven't yet been able to figure out how to take

         20  their success and replicate it?

         21                 MS. CADOGAN: I think we are

         22  monitoring their success and really trying to

         23  understand that, yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But we haven't

         25  been able to replicate it yet?
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          2                 MS. CADOGAN: Not as yet, no. It's

          3  still young.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. Thank you.

          5  Council Member Addabbo.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

          7  Madam Chair and Ms. Cadogan and Mr. Hecht. I

          8  appreciate your time and testimony today. I

          9  appreciate identifying your concerns with Intro 468.

         10  I ask minimally, can you appreciate at least the

         11  goal of the intent of Intro 468? Can you appreciate

         12  that we're trying to reach out to all of those

         13  workers who don't have health insurance coverage?

         14  Can you appreciate that at least goal or intent of

         15  Intro 468?

         16                 MS. CADOGAN: I certainly can

         17  appreciate that goal, Council Member Addabbo and I

         18  think that is where our partnership should begin and

         19  in fact, as articulated in my testimony, I recognize

         20  that is the intent from which both the Committee and

         21  the impetus and supporters of this bill come from.

         22  The goal is laudable. It is the means and some of

         23  the methods to achieve it that I think requires some

         24  give and take between the Committee, the supporters

         25  and perhaps us.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Great. I love

          3  the fact that we will deal from that common ground

          4  start to go forward and ultimately trying to get

          5  this health insurance to these workers who are

          6  dedicated to the work that they do. If I may ask,

          7  Ms. Cadogan, to just expand on the second last

          8  paragraph of your statement, we call upon the

          9  Council and supporters to work with private and

         10  public sector partnerships. If you can give at least

         11  concrete suggestions or possible work models that we

         12  start to work on, I'd appreciate it.

         13                 MS. CADOGAN: Without creating a

         14  roadmap here and I think we would welcome the

         15  opportunity to engage with you on some other

         16  thoughts, but certainly there are models of the

         17  public sector really looking to address the need of

         18  the uninsured. I mentioned the Healthy New York

         19  program which is one that was specifically designed

         20  to provide businesses and individuals an option

         21  toward affordable health insurance particularly

         22  targeted at lower income workers. One thing that is

         23  a potential expiration is ways that one might expand

         24  the opportunity of Healthy New York access for a

         25  broader range of employees in a spectrum of
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          2  industries, these and others. Looking at perhaps

          3  some of the eligibility requirements in Healthy New

          4  York and seeing what could be done to make that more

          5  accessible for a broader range of uninsured workers.

          6  That is one perhaps strategy.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I think today

          8  we take at least a positive first step in the long

          9  road to again providing healthcare to many of our

         10  workers throughout the City and I look forward to

         11  working with you in the Administration and getting

         12  to that end hopefully through Intro 468. Thank you

         13  very much. Thank you, Madam Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We've also been

         15  joined by our colleague from Brooklyn who is also a

         16  member of the Committee, Council Member Yvette

         17  Clarke and now we have a question from Council

         18  Member Helen Sears.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you,

         20  Madam Chair and good morning.

         21                 MS. CADOGAN: Good morning.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I think I'll

         23  start off as commendable what the Administration has

         24  done in the programs that are already in place to do

         25  that because the uninsured in the City is very high.
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          2  The fact is though that everybody in this City

          3  should be covered with healthcare. And they're not.

          4  You state that the Health and Hospital Corporation

          5  does covers of a lot of those that are uninsured.

          6  They do and I think the Health and Hospital

          7  Corporation does a remarkable job and I have a great

          8  deal of respect for what they do. And Elmhurst

          9  Hospital is in my district and I know what they do

         10  and it's very commendable. But we also recognize

         11  that the Health and Hospital Corporation has

         12  enormous responsibility and the cost of what is

         13  going on with the Health and Hospital Corporation is

         14  huge.

         15                 We need to look at and I'm pleased

         16  that this proposed Intro is something that we can

         17  all work on to do that. That this is not written in

         18  stone and that's what intros are about. But in so

         19  many of the programs that are in existence, the

         20  reason that they are uninsured is because those

         21  people don't meet the requirements of the

         22  eligibility for those programs. So we need to look

         23  at and that may be how we address this, how we fill

         24  that gap for those that do not meet the eligibility

         25  requirements for any of the programs that the City
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          2  has in place now. And there are many that do not.

          3  The individuals do not and the families do not.

          4  That's the group that we have to look at.

          5                 If that means that employers must

          6  share in that responsibility, because doing business

          7  in the City of New York is what everybody likes to

          8  do. And there is only one New York City. An

          9  employers and contractors and those who do that

         10  business, I really believe have a responsibility to

         11  also care for their employees. And I think one of

         12  those is the responsibility to provide healthcare.

         13  And perhaps we can work out where the employer,

         14  which this is looking at, and the City can work out

         15  where we fill that gap. But my focus is on that

         16  population and the uninsured that don't meet as I

         17  said, the eligibility requirements. I think you need

         18  to look at that.

         19                 If this bill is something, I think

         20  that at least is a start in that direction and you

         21  would be very valuable in having us where this does

         22  not drag that we at least can eradicate. Because you

         23  know what's really a nightmare for families and

         24  individuals without coverage and have very limited

         25  incomes, it's really very frightening. They don't go
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          2  to the doctors. It's frightening if something

          3  happens and that is no way for anybody to live and

          4  it's certainly is no way for anybody who is putting

          5  in a day's work and does not have that kind of

          6  protection. It's irresponsible of all us to do that.

          7  I think the Administration has certainly recognized

          8  that by implementing some of these programs. And

          9  where more needs to be done is because we have a

         10  large population that falls in those cracks because

         11  they do not meet the requirements. And that's what

         12  we have to look at. I hope that's something that we

         13  can deal with.

         14                 The Health and Hospital Corporation

         15  does a great job and I have to say again it is also

         16  stretched. Because remember, what the Health and

         17  Hospital Corporation picks up, there is those that

         18  do not. Ultimately, it falls to the City to meet

         19  that obligation and I think that's where we're going

         20  wrong. Those employers have a responsibility to

         21  share in our obligation to take care of the people

         22  of the City of New York healthwise and we have to do

         23  that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You're not suppose

         25  to allow clapping as a Chair. For the record, I did
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          2  tap. I didn't tap that enthusiastically though.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

          4  much. But I just hope that you're able to bring that

          5  back so that we can move on and reach something

          6  that's very amicable and make sure that that

          7  population doesn't have to live in the kind of fear

          8  that they're living in right now.

          9                 MS. CADOGAN: Council Member, I

         10  appreciate and respect your recognition of the

         11  concerns of the uninsured that lives with us in the

         12  Mayor's Office of Health Insurance Access every day

         13  and looking at that group that is not eligible for

         14  the public health insurance programs is something

         15  that we also are concerned about. I think the thing

         16  that you have recognized in your statements is

         17  something that is also important to us. Having

         18  employer finance system that brings employers to the

         19  table in solving this problem in a way that works

         20  well for employers and employees and the City as

         21  well. So, yes, we are speaking a similar language in

         22  bringing all of those parts of the equation together

         23  in a way that works.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         25  much and thank you, Madam Chair. So I'm hopeful that
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          2  with our Chair and the Administration, we'll be able

          3  to see something fairly soon. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We've also been

          5  joined by another colleague from Brooklyn, a member

          6  of the Committee, Council Member Al Vann. I have two

          7  final points, questions, whatever. One to go back to

          8  the issue of these five sectors. Respond a little to

          9  your concerns won't be exactly a question, but back

         10  and forth. There is a couple reasons why this bill

         11  starts with these five sectors. I say start because

         12  the goal here, both of the goals are to make sure

         13  that everybody in New York City has insurance from

         14  one way or another. So we're starting with these

         15  five sectors for a couple of reasons. One, as I said

         16  in my opening statement, this bill is first and

         17  foremost a health care piece of legislation. But it

         18  does have an economic component as well which is to

         19  try to level the playing field.

         20                 I have great concern when I read in

         21  the paper that Wal- Mart has found a space in Queens

         22  and that they might be looking for spaces in East

         23  Harlem. I worry what that will do to the grocery

         24  sector and what that will do to grocery stores that

         25  have hundreds and hundreds of unionized workers who
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          2  have insurance and pensions and can take care of

          3  their families and have what shouldn't be an

          4  exception but are lucky to have the ability to work

          5  of a day's work and make money and benefits that

          6  they and their families can live. I worry about

          7  that.

          8                 I think we in government have to do

          9  something to send a message that we support those

         10  kind of employers and we don't support employers who

         11  take advantage of their workers in their quest to

         12  make more money for their top level executives. That

         13  is part of this bill as well. Part of the reason

         14  we're starting in these sectors is we may be the

         15  first City to try to do this, but I think we're

         16  trying to learn from what we're seeing in other

         17  parts of the country and respond to the reality of

         18  places hanging, gone out of business signs on these

         19  doors, in these sectors to try to prevent that from

         20  happening here. That's one.

         21                 Two, since a lot of these sectors are

         22  actually highly unionized and even if they're not

         23  unionized, give full benefits. I'm worried that the

         24  entrance of a Wal- Mart type, I fear I'm going to

         25  get sued by Wal- Mart, but whatever; of a Wal- Mart
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          2  type into the economy would have an immediately

          3  devastating effect. That's another reason why we're

          4  starting with these five sectors. Also, because of

          5  the reality of how much coverage already exist in

          6  these sectors to kind of go back to your earlier

          7  point, it's a smart place to start because it gives

          8  us an experience through which we're going to end up

          9  probably focusing at first on a smaller number of

         10  people since there is a lot of coverage in these

         11  sectors. It's a good way to refine the

         12  Administration of this, refine the concept so that

         13  if we have to go to other sectors where there is

         14  less coverage of people, we'll have learned in a

         15  smaller environment.

         16                 Also, part of the reasons we're

         17  starting in these five sectors to be honest, I'd

         18  like to say every idea I have is an idea that my

         19  staff and I created, not really so true, part of the

         20  reason we're starting these five sectors is these

         21  five sectors came to us. The businesses in these

         22  five sectors came to us. The businesses came to us

         23  and said we need something like this. We need your

         24  help, work with us. And this was the solution that

         25  all of us together came up with and I think that's
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          2  why when you look at the list which we can give you

          3  if don't have it, there is a very, very long list of

          4  businesses who have endorsed this bill as well as

          5  trade associations and unions. That's another reason

          6  we're starting here because these five sectors came

          7  to us asking for help. The businesses did. That is

          8  some, most of the reasons leveling the playing

          9  field, helping people who have asked for help,

         10  learning from what we've seen nationally and then a

         11  result of all of that is a smaller universe which I

         12  think will go to your original concern on some

         13  level. We've also been joined by Council Member Dr.

         14  Kendall Stewart of Brooklyn, a member of the Health

         15  Committee.

         16                 MS. CADOGAN: I hear those concerns

         17  and the fact that as you mentioned, Council Member

         18  Quinn, that businesses in these various sectors came

         19  to you raising the problem that they face. But it is

         20  a problem that is not unique to these industries

         21  even though these are the ones that have come to

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can I interrupt

         24  for one second?

         25                 MS. CADOGAN: Sure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Because I should

          3  just clarify. I don't mean to interrupt. They came

          4  to us asking for help and they came with a version.

          5  Obviously things go through many drafts of this as

          6  the solution. Do you know what I mean? It is this.

          7  They are not just on this list and they didn't just

          8  come to us with a problem. They also came with this

          9  model which we have refined and worked through,

         10  Gelvina Stevenson, over and over and over. But I

         11  also want to be clear with this proposal.

         12                 MS. CADOGAN: I respect that. But what

         13  this proposal in its current form does is focus a

         14  solution only on these industries when the problem

         15  and particularly for lower wage workers some of whom

         16  are in other industries that may have limited

         17  unionization are not going to receive the benefit.

         18  The solution is not going to be one that hits the

         19  broadest group of uninsured across industry lines.

         20  That is in terms of looking at your bottom line

         21  goal, one that really troubles us.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I see that point.

         23  I think it's a little contradictory to your earlier

         24  concern. This is a start.  And it's not to say that

         25  once we've done it and been effective here, that we
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          2  wouldn't then expand. Also, I think if you look at

          3  other things in government, when you start with a

          4  certain sector or area, people in the others, they

          5  get that message pretty quick. There can be ripple

          6  effects in things like this. Would it be this type

          7  of a bill be something that the Administration would

          8  support if we did it outside of these five sectors?

          9  If we did for anyone doing business?

         10                 MS. CADOGAN: I don't know that for

         11  other reasons I mentioned, we would support

         12  necessarily this type of bill and this structure of

         13  position --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: It really isn't

         15  about the --

         16                 MS. CADOGAN: -- For other sectors.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: It really isn't

         18  about the sectors then. I mean it's a curiosity in

         19  the bill that we've started here which I see. If

         20  this type of a model, if the sector issue was taken

         21  out, I still hear which I respect that this isn't a

         22  model that the Administration supports. So at the

         23  core, the problem really isn't the five sectors.

         24  It's just a disagreement with this model.

         25                 MS. CADOGAN: It is both of those
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          2  things. It's certainly a concern that the uninsured

          3  problem is bigger than these industries and if we're

          4  looking at a solution, can we look as broadly as

          5  possible toward that solution and the model of

          6  putting the City in the position of being the

          7  default administrator and payor for health care

          8  coverage to address this with employers is something

          9  that we're also concerned about.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right. I disagree

         11  that you --

         12                 MS. CADOGAN: Respectfully.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: -- Being the

         14  financial default. I think the problem is bigger.

         15  But also with all due respect when we talked before

         16  about where is your guide for big businesses, you

         17  don't have one. Because you have a guide for smaller

         18  businesses because you thought that was a place the

         19  City could have an impact. Which I think I agree

         20  with you. There is not one, tragically, within the

         21  power of the City of New York, maybe if we were the

         22  federal government it would be different, but there

         23  is not one stroke of a pen or guide or program that

         24  is going to comprehensively get the quarter of New

         25  Yorkers who are uninsured insured. I think in the
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          2  models you've listed, not one of them covers

          3  anybody. But they are still terrific, important and

          4  good that they're part of a kind of continuum

          5  attempts to cover. I don't see this bill as any

          6  different than those and I think it's particularly

          7  important to go, just I want to underscore the point

          8  that Council Member Sears raised, a lot of the

          9  programs you listed that this Council really

         10  supports, Family Health Plus, et cetera, et cetera

         11  have income cap et cetera on who they cover.

         12                 There are some people in the quarter

         13  of New Yorkers who are uninsured because they don't

         14  go there and they could get coverage. Right. And

         15  there is a whole other group who have gone there and

         16  told you can't get it. You don't qualify. But yet

         17  the employers don't give it to them and those people

         18  need a solution too. I think this in part goes to

         19  that group as well. I guess I just don't think that

         20  given the enormity of the health care insurance

         21  problem and the complexity that we should ever

         22  reject a solution because it doesn't -- it isn't the

         23  magic bullet so to speak. Because I don't think

         24  we're going to find one within our power.

         25                 MS. CADOGAN: I would agree with you
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          2  that within the City's limited scope perhaps it is

          3  difficult to find the silver bullet and one of the

          4  things that is emblematic of some of the solutions

          5  that you have lauded is the fact that they bring

          6  together not only the City in its engagement of

          7  support, but the State with its own responsibility

          8  control in the insurance industry. And to some

          9  extent if it's pertinent, federal participation. I

         10  think that those are the layers of participation

         11  that we really do need to bring together in a

         12  solution. I'm not sure that all of those layers are

         13  kind of fully considered in the framework of Intro

         14  468.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: How would you have

         16  the federal government participate in 468? I agree

         17  the degree to which you can get all arms of

         18  government involved usually the better. Although, I

         19  think the State has actually been a monumental

         20  hindrance in our efforts to expand Family Health

         21  Plus and Child Health Plus. I think some of the

         22  people I described as falling through the crack have

         23  fallen through that crack directly as a result of

         24  Governor Pataki's unwillingness to change

         25  registration, et cetera, et cetera. Let me ask two
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          2  questions and then Council Member Stewart has a

          3  question. One, how would you utilize the federal

          4  government in this? I'm not sure that they have to

          5  answer every problem. And then two, in your

          6  testimony you talked about referencing that we need

          7  to come up with more and new solutions. But you

          8  didn't actually list any new ones that are

          9  immediately on the horizon for the Administration.

         10  If 468 isn't a solution that you think is

         11  endorsement worthy or one you could support what is

         12  a new addition to the list you presently have of

         13  programs recognizing that as good as they are, they

         14  are still people they're not getting to or can't get

         15  to because of their restrictions.

         16                 MS. CADOGAN: We're examining that. I

         17  hesitate to give an incomplete answer but I think

         18  one of things that might be a potential path and I

         19  suggested this in response to one of Council Member

         20  Addabbo's questions is looking at some of the

         21  existing programs like a Healthy New York and

         22  looking at some of the eligibility requirements that

         23  pertain and seeing whether those by advocacy or

         24  otherwise can be adjusted and made more reachable

         25  for the broader range of uninsured population and
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          2  businesses that we're looking to serve. That may be

          3  one path. There may well be others in looking at

          4  some of the success even though it is young of

          5  Brooklyn Health Works in terms of developing

          6  something that is regionally targeted. I think there

          7  are other perhaps broader stroke ways that we can

          8  look at addressing the needs of these populations.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Two questions.

         10  Would we need the State to weigh in for the first

         11  solution?

         12                 MS. CADOGAN: I think we would need

         13  the State at the table directly.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I just have to say

         15  the Pataki Administration has been so incredibly

         16  unexplainably resistant to making changes. And no

         17  one has been a better advocate for that than Ben

         18  Chu. Unbelievable. Pushing and pushing and pushing

         19  the State to try to make changes. The idea is a good

         20  one. I'm loathed to put any hope in it because I

         21  know this Governor is not going to do it. They're

         22  not going to do it. He said it over and over again.

         23  He's proven it over and over again. We should push,

         24  but I don't we can put that anywhere in the near

         25  future. For the other ideas you're talking about,
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          2  give me a sense of the time line of when we're going

          3  to see a proposal; when we're going to see

          4  implementation; when you could come back to us and

          5  take us through it.

          6                 MS. CADOGAN: I think it would be

          7  unfair of me to give a time line. But I will get

          8  back to you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. I have a

         10  concern about that in that is kind of partially

         11  underscoring this bill. Thank you very much. Our

         12  final question is going to be from Council Member

         13  Stewart.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         15  Madam Chair. And I want to say I'm sorry to be late.

         16  In New York City, with all these problems we have to

         17  be at different places at different times. I have a

         18  simple question that I want to find out basically

         19  considering the fact that we don't have what we call

         20  a universal health insurance system and a number of

         21  folks are uninsured and so they cannot get

         22  insurance. Eventually they end up not going to seek

         23  health care in a timely manner and eventually the

         24  City will be responsible because they end up in HHC

         25  facilities which we eventually have pay for in some
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          2  form. What other ways do you see that we can come up

          3  with that is a short term that we can deal with this

          4  issue because eventually whatever we get from

          5  Medicaid from the State and the federal government,

          6  New York City is the only place that is doing that

          7  as part of the City. That is responsible for paying

          8  their share of the Medicaid and it's building every

          9  year. What other methods do you see that we can go

         10  to that is a short term that we can relieve this

         11  problem?

         12                 MS. CADOGAN: I want to be fair in

         13  saying that I don't think that there is an absolute

         14  easy short term rapid fix. Unfortunately, we have

         15  all been dealing with the issue of the uninsured for

         16  very long and some would say far too long. Council

         17  Member, you recognize that we're fortunate to have

         18  and Council Member Quinn mentioned that we're

         19  fortunate to have a rich Medicaid program. We're

         20  also fortunate in New York State to have some of the

         21  most creative programs for the small business sector

         22  and I respect Council Member concerns that those

         23  programs only serve the small business sector.

         24                 I think that we have ingredients in

         25  both of those and again, I would urge that we really
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          2  need to bring the State to the table of seeing how

          3  we can use those existing resources perhaps in a

          4  combination, perhaps in some new creative ways to

          5  bring a solution forward that also has employers at

          6  the table. Because again, the discussion we're

          7  having here is not necessarily about wage earners

          8  who might be eligible for public programs, but wage

          9  earners for whom we want to also use an employer

         10  finance system to address the problem of their

         11  uninsurance. I think all of those sectors that we

         12  have to bring to the table and not shoulder the full

         13  responsibility, although we certainly shoulder the

         14  problem on our own.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: But the

         16  present system is that most of these folks they're

         17  making a little too much to be on these programs

         18  that you mentioned which is Health Plus, Health

         19  First and all those Medicaid type programs. They're

         20  making a little too much. But they're still in

         21  poverty in the sense that they cannot pay for their

         22  own insurance and so they are left out there on a

         23  limb. If we don't find a way of really trying to

         24  secure their security as far as insurance is

         25  concerned and health concerns, what are we do in
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          2  terms of when the problems continue to be like that.

          3  Because as I see it right now, is that we are just

          4  dancing around. But the problem still remains even

          5  though we create all of these simple programs with

          6  the State or the State created these programs, they

          7  are still not addressing those folks who may be

          8  making a little too much or little more than the

          9  level, but it is not enough for them to have their

         10  own insurance. This is the way we feel that we can

         11  really address that problem.

         12                 If you can see a different way or

         13  show me a better way, then we can look at it. But

         14  right now, I don't see any other way. I don't see

         15  any way of really protecting these folks who are out

         16  there laboring and protecting and doing work in the

         17  City.

         18                 MS. CADOGAN: Council Member, you've

         19  articulated your concerns and I think our concerns

         20  have been made plain by testimony. I don't know how

         21  else I can respond.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The only

         23  other question I have is that you may not be in

         24  total agreement with our ideas, but do you have any

         25  definite point that you feel that you can accept
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          2  that we can work or do you have any ideas that you

          3  feel that we can work together to come up with some

          4  good plan to really protect these folks? Do you

          5  think you're open to that?

          6                 MS. CADOGAN: I'm certainly open to

          7  the opportunity and I think we are open to the

          8  opportunity of really sitting with the Council and

          9  looking at how we can bring the sectors together

         10  with a administration and employer finance structure

         11  that can work to address this problem. I would say

         12  yes to that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right,

         14  thank you very much. Thank you, Madam Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         16  much. I just want to thank DBS, Department of Small

         17  Business Services for coming in today. Sorry we

         18  didn't have any questions, but thank you none the

         19  less.

         20                 MS. CADOGAN: Thank you all very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you all very

         22  much. We're going to call up the next panel which is

         23  Dr. Sherry Glied, Sonya Schwartz and Paul Sonn.

         24  They're followed after that panel by a

         25  representative from the New York Metropolitan Retail
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          2  Association, by Bernie Carr from the New York

          3  Association of Affordable Housing and Nora Nealis,

          4  the Executive Director of the National Cleaners

          5  Association. If Ms. Nealis is here, if she could

          6  just make her way over to the Sergeant at Arms desk,

          7  we just want to make sure if we know whether the

          8  witnesses are all here or not. Thank you very much.

          9                 We are going to just procedurally,

         10  the Administration kind of gets an open time clock,

         11  though with the rest of the witnesses, since we have

         12  another hearing coming in this room at 1:00, we are

         13  going to put on a three minute clock which I think

         14  you all were advised of. So, Dr. Glied, why don't

         15  you go right ahead and start us on off. And if you

         16  can just identify yourself for the record and people

         17  could try to exit the room quietly because we're

         18  going to keep things moving. Go ahead. If the light

         19  is off, the mic is on.

         20                 DR. GLIED: Okay. Hi, my name is

         21  Sherry Glied. I'm Professor and Chair of the

         22  Department of Health Policy and Management at the

         23  Mailman Public's Health at Columbia and member of

         24  the Center for the Health of Urban Minorities which

         25  helped to sponsor this research. I'm a Health
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          2  Economist. My background includes serving as a

          3  Senior Economist for the first President Bush's

          4  Council of Economic Advisers and for President

          5  Clinton and for the Health Care Task Force. Much of

          6  my research focuses on documenting the problems of

          7  the uninsured in the United States and I've done

          8  some research now on the problems on uninsured

          9  workers in New York City.

         10                 I've recently completed an analysis

         11  of access to health insurance in New York and you

         12  have a copy of that report. It has been submitted as

         13  testimony. I just want to summarize a few points

         14  that we reached in our conclusion in that report

         15  which was done with a colleague of mine, Bisundev

         16  Mahato. Job based coverage for low- wage workers in

         17  New York City as well as national wide has been

         18  eroding. It's dropped by about one and half

         19  percentage points in New York just since the late

         20  1990's. About 45,000 New York City workers, fewer

         21  New York City workers have job based coverage now.

         22  People without health insurance, workers without

         23  health insurance in New York use about half as much

         24  care as do those who do have insurance. That means

         25  they go without useful care that can make them as
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          2  healthy as the rest of us. When they do get care, a

          3  substantial share of it is not compensated. They

          4  don't pay for it and public programs don't pay for

          5  it. It's paid for by providers and ultimately by the

          6  City and its subsidies to providers.

          7                 We estimate that about 20 percent of

          8  the care received by uninsured workers is

          9  uncompensated. That means in total taxpayers and

         10  healthcare providers in New York pay an estimated

         11  $612 million each year for healthcare services

         12  provided to uninsured and publicly insured workers

         13  and members of their families. Of this, about $466

         14  million is for low- wage workers and their families

         15  who are uninsured. Rates of uninsurance are highest

         16  among low- wage workers who are Hispanic and Asians.

         17  Nearly 60 percent of Hispanic low- wage workers in

         18  the City lack health insurance coverage.

         19                 Over two thirds of uninsured low-

         20  wage workers in New York are employed in the retail

         21  or service sectors and in indeed most of those

         22  workers are in small business. But I want to point

         23  out that over a quarter of low- wage workers in

         24  large firms in New York are also uninsured. Thus,

         25  the problem of uninsurance in New York City is
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          2  serious. It's growing. We appreciate the efforts of

          3  the Mayor's office and other places to expand

          4  Medicaid, Child Health Plus and Family Health Plus,

          5  but there are many people who are not eligible for

          6  these programs and they instead use City emergency

          7  rooms for care or simply go without care. They cost

          8  hundreds of millions dollars to the City already in

          9  terms of the care that they're using and they don't

         10  meet the potential that they could have by accessing

         11  proper healthcare. There is, I think, an urgent need

         12  for us to address this problem and I applaud the

         13  City Council for considering it. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Go right ahead.

         15                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Thank you so much for

         16  having me here today. I'm Sonya Schwartz. And I'm

         17  here with Families USA in Washington, D.C. Families

         18  USA's is the national organization for health

         19  consumers. Our mission is to ensure that all

         20  Americans have access to quality affordable health

         21  care. I'm an attorney and health policy analyst at

         22  Families USA and most of my work focuses on ensuring

         23  that people who are uninsured have better access to

         24  health coverage and in fact, I just completed this

         25  tool kit which is called Ideas that Work. Basically,
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          2  it highlights approaches to solving the problem of

          3  the uninsured that are very similar to the approach

          4  in the Health Care Security Act. It's actually

          5  mentioned in a footnote and available on our

          6  website. But I wanted to show it off since it's

          7  bright orange, my favorite color.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What's mentioned

          9  in a footnote?

         10                 MS. SCHWARTZ: The name of the

         11  publication, Ideas that Work so you can find it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I thought you

         13  meant our bill was a footnote in which case we were

         14  kicking you right out. No, I'm only kidding.

         15                 MS. SCHWARTZ: No, I didn't know about

         16  your bill at the time I wrote this.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, fine.

         18                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Too bad. Families USA

         19  applauds you for introducing this really important

         20  bill. There are two major reasons why we think this

         21  is an important bill. And I just wanted to provide

         22  really a national context for why this is important.

         23  First, as Sherry mentioned, employer based coverage

         24  is declining not only in New York City, but

         25  nationwide and especially among low- wage workers.
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          2  And low- wage service workers in particularly, are

          3  more likely to be uninsured than other workers.

          4                 We think the Health Care Security Act

          5  would help reverse this trend and provide needed

          6  coverage to these workers who are really vulnerable.

          7  As you know, most workers get health care coverage

          8  through their jobs. That's the system we have. And

          9  it's the bed rock of our system, the employer- based

         10  coverage. Can folks hear me? It's getting loud.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If we could try to

         12  keep conversations down. The room echoes a lot more

         13  than people might realize.

         14                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Sorry.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's okay.

         16                 MS. SCHWARTZ: I'm going to skip over

         17  some of the statistics that are in my testimony.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Don't worry about

         19  the clock. You've gotten cut into a little bit. So

         20  it's okay. Go ahead.

         21                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Okay. So coverage has

         22  declined nearly four percent in general among

         23  workers than employer- based coverage. It's dropped

         24  from 67 to 63 percent. And low- income workers have

         25  been particularly hard hit. Service workers in
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          2  particular are less likely to have coverage than

          3  other kinds of workers. Nationwide, only 59 percent

          4  of service workers are actually enrolled in

          5  employer- sponsored coverage compared to 80 percent

          6  of workers in other fields like manufacturing,

          7  transportation, communication and so forth.

          8                 I just also wanted to point out that

          9  it might be counter intuitive, but actually low-

         10  wage workers are also being asked to pay more of

         11  their premiums and also even have to pay more cost

         12  sharing when they go to a doctor or hospital than

         13  higher income workers. This is also a growing

         14  problem that we face across the country. We think

         15  the Health Care Security Act will help keep

         16  insurance affordable for workers in the service

         17  industry. We think the approach is really

         18  reasonable. It links the requirement to provide

         19  health care to a standard that the majority of

         20  businesses and the industry are already meeting.

         21  This prevailing package of benefits that's already

         22  out there in the industry is actually a package that

         23  allows workers to actually access health care

         24  because as I said before, the cost sharing is low

         25  which is really important. No one has mentioned that
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          2  so far.

          3                 I guess the second main point is I

          4  just wanted to sort of show what's going on across

          5  the country that's similar to this and why this is

          6  an important trend. As it was mentioned before,

          7  under the Employer Retirement Security Act, ERISA, a

          8  federal law, states cannot or cities cannot just go

          9  ahead and simply mandate that employers provide

         10  coverage. Instead, you actually have to provide

         11  incentives for employers to provide coverage and in

         12  this case you're providing the incentive that if you

         13  don't, you're going to have pay this fee. That's how

         14  you have to approach it. Hawaii actually because of

         15  a special exemption to ERISA has had a law called

         16  the Prepaid Health Care Act on the books since the

         17   '70's. It's really the best way to look at see how

         18  these things work in terms of how employers adjust

         19  to these kinds of programs.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I feel a site

         21  visit need.

         22                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Oh yes, me too. I

         23  didn't get to do one even I did research on it in my

         24  report. They invited me. It was a bummer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: With the
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          2  Administration, absolutely.

          3                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Maybe they'd change

          4  their mind if they went to Hawaii. I'm just teasing.

          5  But in any case, in Hawaii we can see that it's the

          6  state where the most employers provide coverage. It

          7  has quite low uninsured rates and I can tell you

          8  more about it if you're interested. There is a whole

          9  case study about it in this report. Other states are

         10  also looking at this. You probably heard that

         11  California had a measure called Senate Bill 2 that

         12  passed and was signed the Governor more than a year

         13  ago and immediately faced an enormous ballet

         14  challenge. Unfortunately, they lost the ballet

         15  challenge. They lost by a razor thin margin of less

         16  than two percent. You have to remember there that

         17  the bill was actually put on the ballot by

         18  opponents, not proponents. And actually the

         19  proponents are thinking about reworking that a

         20  little bit and putting it on the ballot again. We're

         21  really hopeful that might pass in the near future.

         22                 Other states are looking at this.

         23  Massachusetts, Wisconsin, Washington State, all have

         24  bills in the works and some have even introduced

         25  them and they passed their Committee. San Francisco
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          2  has a City law that I can talk more about. But

          3  basically it's a law that requires City contractors

          4  to either provide coverage or pay a fee. I'd be

          5  happy to tell you more about that. I guess in sum, I

          6  just wanted to say that we're really excited about

          7  this bill. We think you're moving in the right

          8  direction. Obviously we support public programs. We

          9  support some of the other efforts that New York City

         10  and the State have made. But there is a huge gap out

         11  there.

         12            We have a report called Holes in the

         13  Safety Net that talks about workers in each state

         14  and we have numbers by state, not by City, who fall

         15  through the cracks in the public safety net that we

         16  love. And the reports are also about expanding the

         17  safety net, but this is a way that you can kind of

         18  ask employers to do the right thing and those who do

         19  the right thing won't be penalized for doing the

         20  right thing. Those who don't can pay a small fee so

         21  that the City can find other ways to cover folks. I

         22  just wanted to make sure I didn't miss anything. We

         23  really congratulate you for introducing this bill

         24  and I'm happy to take any questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just before Paul
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          2  goes, I just wanted to note for the record that

          3  Marjorie and the other folks from the Administration

          4  are staying to listen to the testimony. That doesn't

          5  always happen with every agency and I just really

          6  want folks who may not have been at a hearing before

          7  to know that the Administration, Mayor's Office of

          8  Health Insurance Access are staying to listen to the

          9  proponents and the opponents and I appreciate that

         10  very much. To me it demonstrates a commitment to

         11  help finding a solution here. So I want to thank you

         12  and make sure everybody knows that. I will allow you

         13  to clap. Thanks. Go ahead, Paul.

         14                 MR. SONN: Thank you, Chair and

         15  Committee Members. My name is Paul Sonn. I'm a

         16  lawyer with the Brennan Center for Justice at NYU

         17  Law School and we have been delighted to be working

         18  with the Council on this proposal. I've submitted

         19  some written testimony which looks like this and it

         20  provides a general overview in the proposal. I'm

         21  actually not going to go over that. I just want to

         22  point out though that it has two exhibits attached

         23  to it. The first one provides some background on the

         24  industries that are the target for coverage under

         25  this proposal. Some numbers about them, statistics,
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          2  exactly who would be covered and who would not be.

          3  The second exhibit B is a report, working paper that

          4  provides a very detailed discussion of an analysis

          5  of the proposal. It's one that you should have

          6  received in your mailboxes a few days ago. I kind of

          7  direct you towards those for sort of more detailed

          8  discussion that we may not have the chance to do

          9  right now.

         10                 I'll just try to hit some main points

         11  and really try to engage the conversation that we've

         12  been having with the folks from the Mayor's office

         13  and you all. I think it's a really key point here is

         14  to understand that this a focused and even a modest

         15  proposal, but one that we think has really important

         16  potential for impact. It focuses key sectors that

         17  have been historically sources of good jobs for

         18  working people in New York. These are construction,

         19  hotels, grocery stores, laundries, and building

         20  services. These are sectors where the source of good

         21  jobs and most employers are provided health

         22  insurance. But not all. It ranges in these

         23  industries from 50 to 85 percent of the employers

         24  provide health insurance; many do not.

         25                 As health costs have increased, the
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          2  fact that there --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry. If I

          4  could just ask folks in the back, could we keep the

          5  conversations down because I'm having a little

          6  trouble hearing the witnesses. Thank you.

          7                 MR. SONN: The scenario in this

          8  industries is you have medium and large construction

          9  firms, medium and large grocery stores, medium and

         10  large firms in other industries. Some are providing

         11  health insurance, some are not. As health costs go

         12  up, the cost advantage of those that choose not to

         13  provide health insurance is really growing. It is

         14  really reaching the point that they're exerting

         15  pressure on the employers that are doing the right

         16  thing and providing health insurance to potentially

         17  have to cut back on their benefits in order to

         18  compete. The example that's received a lot of

         19  attention nationally is Wal- Mart versus

         20  supermarkets. Most supermarkets provide health

         21  benefits. Wal- Mart hardly does. They technically

         22  provide some, but it's so unaffordable no one can

         23  avail themselves of it. Because Wal- Mart is not

         24  required to provide health benefits, they are able

         25  to put a lot of price pressure on grocery stores
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          2  forcing them to push down their health benefits.

          3                 The proposal would focus on these

          4  industries where the problem does not seem to be the

          5  ability of firms to provide health insurance, but

          6  frankly, the willingness of some of them to do so.

          7  We believe it's really clearly economically feasible

          8  for really all the actors to provide health

          9  insurance as shown by the fact that the majority

         10  are. It's important to note that these are sectors

         11  where the wonderful tools that the Mayor's office

         12  spoke about and developed are actually not

         13  available. They are overwhelmingly firms that are

         14  too large to qualify for these forms of subsidized

         15  health care. The workers by and large make too much

         16  to qualify for subsidized health care. Because you

         17  don't have to make very much to be rich for Medicaid

         18  or too rich for Family Health Plus. None of those

         19  programs are available and frankly it actually

         20  wouldn't be appropriate to subsidize these firms in

         21  providing health care. Because the standard in this

         22  industry is that that you can do it and compete

         23  effectively.

         24                 It's important to note that this is

         25  actually an employer conversation of the sort that
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          2  the Mayor's office referred to. This is a

          3  substantially employer led initiative where

          4  businesses from whom you'll hear this afternoon from

          5  these sectors have come together and come to you the

          6  Council and said, sure prices are going up. It's not

          7  always easy to buy health care. But in this

          8  industry, you can do the right thing; provide health

          9  care for your workers and make a profit. But it only

         10  works if everyone does it. If there are a bunch of

         11  businesses out there that are not providing health

         12  care and they're beating us on our construction

         13  pricing; they're beating us on our grocery pricing;

         14  they're beating us on our hotel pricing, it just

         15  doesn't work.

         16                 The risk is if there is not a

         17  standard here, the employers that are providing

         18  health insurance will be forced to parrot back or

         19  drop it and will have an explosion, a snow balling

         20  of the uninsured. That's really this proposal. It

         21  may sound limited, but in fact, we've tried to work

         22  out some rough numbers and it's actually hundreds of

         23  thousands of workers and dependents of workers who

         24  are receiving care in these industries. My testimony

         25  has the numbers. The reason it's so large is the
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          2  standard in these industries is good family care

          3  where the health insurance is available for the

          4  whole family. It really is a sector where what we're

          5  proposing is a limited version of this pay or play

          6  model truly makes sense. There may be sectors where

          7  employers cannot afford to provide health insurance,

          8  but these are the ones where they can.

          9                 I'll just hit on two or three of the

         10  points raised by the Mayor's folks.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just quickly,

         12  Paul. I'm sorry.

         13                 MR. SONN: I'm sorry. This is not the

         14  only municipality that is exploring proposals like

         15  this. And was noted, San Francisco has sort of a

         16  narrower but similar version. The question somehow

         17  leading to open ended costs or deficits for the

         18  City, the bill can and in fact is written to say

         19  that it cannot run at a deficit. If it turns out

         20  fees are coming in more slowly than anticipated, the

         21  program can be scaled back. The key element is

         22  requiring all employers to pay the fee if they don't

         23  provide health benefits. That itself levels the

         24  playing field and creates the incentive for everyone

         25  to do the right thing.
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          2                 On the legal stuff, one, we've had

          3  really some of the best ERISA lawyers in the country

          4  look at this. They think that it should pass. In

          5  fact, it uses the same model that was used in this

          6  California legislation where the U.S. Chamber of

          7  Commerce's own lawyers produced a memo and for some

          8  reason circulated it; we're not quite sure why,

          9  predicting that it would be upheld if challenged in

         10  court. We think it meets ERISA's requirements.

         11  Similarly, it meets the legal standards in New York

         12  for a fee as opposed to a tax. The payment is

         13  imposed from businesses in specific industries to

         14  fund a specific program that applies just to that

         15  industry. Those are the circumstances under which

         16  cities are allowed to impose fees. I'll wrap up

         17  there. If there any other questions, I'd be

         18  delighted to try to respond.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. I'll

         20  start in the order of folks speaking. Professor, if

         21  you could in your longer testimony that you

         22  reference, tax payer and health care providers in

         23  New York City pay an estimated $612 million each

         24  year for health care services provided to uninsured

         25  and publicly insured working New Yorkers and their
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          2  families. Of this $466 million, it's for low- wage

          3  workers and their families. Can you tell us a little

          4  bit how you got to those numbers and what the

          5  methodology was, et cetera.

          6                 PROFESSOR GLIED: Sure. We used a

          7  national data set called the Medical Expenditure

          8  Panel Survey that's collected by the federal

          9  government and that provides information on workers

         10  around the country. We collected a sample from that

         11  study that looks like workers in New York, basically

         12  workers in the northeast who live in large cities.

         13  We then adjusted the figures to represent New York.

         14  We used a methodology that's been used nationally

         15  several times to estimate the burden of

         16  uncompensated care based on those expenditures.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: One of the things

         18  you just said that I think I just want to repeat and

         19  the way you came to this number is a methodology

         20  you've used before. You've used in other parts of

         21  country.

         22                 PROFESSOR GLIED: I've used it. Other

         23  people have used it. This is a very standard

         24  methodology for estimating these figures. The only

         25  part of it that is different from the things that
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          2  other people have done is trying to figure out what

          3  part of it is the New York City share. Because

          4  people haven't done this at a City level before.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Those are fairly

          6  staggering, huge numbers if you think about it.

          7                 PROFESSOR GLIED: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And the way we got

          9  to them is pretty sound.

         10                 PROFESSOR GLIED: Absolutely. I think

         11  so.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can you restate

         13  one of the facts you said which I was struck by. You

         14  said a quarter of all workers in New York City who

         15  work for large entities--

         16                 PROFESSOR GLIED: A quarter of low-

         17  wage workers who work for large entities are

         18  uninsured according to our calculations.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's pretty

         20  staggering since understandably so a lot of the

         21  discussion we have about expanding insurance relates

         22  to small businesses which I think is appropriate,

         23  but I think that's a pretty significant statistic

         24  and kind of, in my opinion, highlights a group of

         25  people who may or who are falling through the
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          2  cracks.

          3                 PROFESSOR GLIED: In other research

          4  that we have done nationally, we've shown that the

          5  share of uninsured workers who were employed by

          6  large firms is actually been growing over time. So

          7  this isn't a problem that's unique to New York

          8  either. Uninsurance is no longer simply a small firm

          9  phenomenon.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Ms. Schwartz, when

         11  you were testifying you raised the ERISA issue. Tell

         12  me whether you think this bill meets the threshold

         13  issues that we have meet there. Do you think it

         14  would withstand an ERISA challenge?

         15                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Sure. Well, one telling

         16  fact is that this bill is very similar in its

         17  construct, SB2, the California law. And there not

         18  only do we have this memo by a prestigious law firm

         19  that worked for the Chamber that said it would

         20  likely stand up to ERISA, but those who are sort of

         21  opponents of SB2 shows to actually spend about $15

         22  million to oppose that bill through the ballot and

         23  not go straight to court. That also tells us that

         24  beyond my legal judgments, I'm one lawyer of many,

         25  tells us that those involved really did feel like it
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          2  meet ERISA standards.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Paul, in your

          4  testimony, you address some of the issues that

          5  Administration raised about tax fee, et cetera. In

          6  that same paragraph, the Administration raised a

          7  concern that Intro 468 curtails the Mayor's power

          8  under the charter and that we're attempting, I

          9  guess, to transfer mayoral powers to the Council and

         10  the Comptroller which you're not allowed to do. Can

         11  you tell me what your response to that is?

         12                 MR. SONN: That is an objection with

         13  deepest respect for the Mayor's folks that the Mayor

         14  really very enthusiastically and sort of

         15  aggressively is asserting these days against the

         16  Council. The Mayor is really attempting to often

         17  take the position that the Council has very limited

         18  powers that they cannot enact a law that sets a

         19  standard that then the City agencies, the Mayoral

         20  agencies must then carry out. They charge that

         21  curtails the Mayor's powers in violation of the City

         22  charter. The more sound interpretation that we

         23  believe the case has supported, that the Council can

         24  do just that, to set standards, set rules, establish

         25  programs and then it's the province of the Mayor to
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          2  administer them and the bill is set up in precisely

          3  that fashion and accords them ample administrative

          4  latitude to run the program.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

          6  Stewart had a question, I believe.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just want

          8  to go back to the question of you mentioned, Hawaii.

          9  I wanted you to compare Hawaii with Intro 468. Could

         10  you tell me what's the difference there? Because if

         11  Hawaii has such a bell and they're doing so well, I

         12  want to make sure that we not stray from that or if

         13  we can improve on that.

         14                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Sure. Well, first off,

         15  New York City can't do it exactly like Hawaii

         16  because of ERISA. Hawaii has a specific exemption

         17  from ERISA that it was able to get in the 1970's

         18  that I don't believe any State or City could get

         19  today because of the politics of that today.

         20  However, what Hawaii does in a nutshell is it

         21  actually mandates that almost all employers in the

         22  State, it exempts people who are self- employed and

         23  own small family businesses. But generally, all

         24  employers in the State must provide coverage and

         25  then it sets a standard for what that coverage
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          2  should be. This bill is a much more modest approach

          3  that focuses on certain industries in a City, not a

          4  State. Instead of out and out requiring employers to

          5  provide coverage, it provides a choice basically

          6  that it provides an incentive that employers would

          7  either provide coverage as they do or pay a fee to

          8  the City. It's similar. I would say it's more modest

          9  in its approach, but it's very similar and I think

         10  the end result will be very similar.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The Hawaii

         12  model, the employer must have at least 20 hours, you

         13  must work at least 20 hours for that employer?

         14                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: What's the

         16  minimum among employers you have to have? Any?

         17                 MS. SCHWARTZ: Any amount, generally

         18  any amount. However, I guess it's two and more.

         19  Because not people are self- employed and not people

         20  who only employ their brother, their sister, their

         21  niece. Not family, tiny little family businesses.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you all very

         24  much and we're going to look forward -- you

         25  mentioned two reports. The one you showed us and
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          2  what was the other one you mentioned. I just want to

          3  make sure we get them.

          4                 MS. SCHWARTZ: I mentioned two reports

          5  that are on our website which is www.familiesusa.org

          6  and they are Ideas that Work, Expanding Health

          7  Coverage for Workers and there is another called

          8  Holes in the Safety Net and Millions of Working

          9  Americans Left Uncovered by Public Programs. They're

         10  both on our website.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         12  much. Thank you all very much. I particularly want

         13  to thank the Brennan Center for all their work and

         14  help. We should clap for the Brennan Center. The

         15  next panel is Donald Halperin from the New York

         16  Metropolitan Retail Association; Bernie Carr from

         17  the New York State Association for Affordable

         18  Housing and Nora Nealis, the Executive Director of

         19  the --

         20                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Boo.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  -- Let me make

         22  this clear. We allowed clapping. There will be no

         23  booing. There will be no hissing and outbursts. If

         24  people act in a way that is disrespectful to people

         25  who disagree with this bill, the people acting
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          2  disrespectfully will be removed from the chambers.

          3  We are having a dialogue today; the first dialogue.

          4  So that's the first warning. The second one will

          5  clear everybody out of the chambers and the Council

          6  Members will listen to the witnesses. Thank you. You

          7  can testify in whatever order you like.

          8                 MS. NEALIS: Good morning. Chairman

          9  Quinn and Members of the Committee, I'd like to

         10  thank you for the opportunity to testify.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Move a little

         12  closer to the mic. It's a little hard to hard to

         13  hear you.

         14                 MS. NEALIS: My name is Nora Nealis

         15  and I'm with the National Cleaners Association, an

         16  organization of professional dry cleaners with over

         17  1,300 member cleaners City- wide. They are almost

         18  exclusively family owned and operated service

         19  businesses.

         20                 NCA members are not isolated from

         21  their employees. They work side by side with them

         22  and often are intimately aware of their personal and

         23  professional needs and take a personal interest in

         24  their well- being. Yet these cleaners often do not

         25  offer health care to their employees or in many
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          2  cases even cover themselves. This is true not

          3  because they don't care, but because it's not

          4  economically feasible.

          5                 In some cases, health care is not an

          6  offered benefit by the employee's choice. Several

          7  years ago, prior to 9/11 and the downward spiral of

          8  the cleaning industry in the City, one of my larger

          9  members reported offering health insurance to her

         10  staff. After much discussion, the employees came

         11  back to her and told her they would prefer a raise

         12  equivalent to the cost of health care rather than

         13  the health care coverage.

         14                 Recent years have found most dry

         15  cleaners experiencing a drop in sales volume of up

         16  to 25 percent. During the same period, New York City

         17  cleaners have been required to take on debt in the

         18  thousands upon thousands of dollars in order to

         19  comply with environmental regulations, an event that

         20  prompted some cleaners to cease operations in the

         21  City and become drop stores and a number of the

         22  larger operators to move their plants out of the

         23  City or State. Because of the nature of the

         24  business, cleaners have especially suffered from

         25  skyrocketing utility costs, in addition to the
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          2  increase in all the other costs of doing business

          3  from hangers to government registrations and fees.

          4  Unfortunately, due to the weak market for dry

          5  cleaning services, most of these small businesses

          6  have been afraid to raise their prices to offset the

          7  increase in costs and loss of volume and their

          8  profits have shrunk significantly.

          9                 In an attempt to survive, a number of

         10  cleaners have tried to replace some of their lost

         11  retail volume by providing a service to other

         12  businesses. As a result today, many neighborhood

         13  cleaners do some kind of commercial work as

         14  referenced in this bill. They may do dry cleaning

         15  for the neighborhood laundromat. They may do shirt

         16  laundering for another neighborhood cleaner. They

         17  may do valet work, hotel work. They may get involved

         18  in fire restoration, smoke damage. But it's a

         19  commercial work that is generating enough cash flow

         20  to help them pay for the bills and survive. Though

         21  this type of work may represent a relatively small

         22  part of their operations, in many cases, it is that

         23  little bit that makes it reasonable for them to hang

         24  in, as they wait for the retail business to come

         25  back.
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          2                 While it may not have been the

          3  intention of this legislation to impose a health

          4  care mandate on these fragile small businesses, as

          5  it is presently constituted, it will catch many of

          6  my 1,300 plus members in the net. Requiring these

          7  small mom and pop establishments to provide health

          8  care benefits to their employees would have

          9  catastrophic repercussions. Undoubtedly, it would

         10  cause a significant number of them to take --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If you could sum

         12  up.

         13                 MS. NEALIS: -- To take drastic

         14  action. Basically, what we would like is we would

         15  like either dry cleaning and laundry to be exempted

         16  or for the 35 employee mandate that's there for

         17  other retailer establishments to have it applied to

         18  the dry cleaning industry as well.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Go ahead.

         20                 MR. CARR: Chairman Quinn and Members

         21  of the Committee, thank you for giving me the

         22  opportunity to testify today. My name is Bernie

         23  Carr. I'm the Executive Director of the New York

         24  State Association for Affordable Housing, a state

         25  wide organization of developers and others involved
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          2  in the construction and management of affordable

          3  housing. The bulk of our 250 members work in New

          4  York City's five boroughs and are collectively

          5  responsible for most of the affordable housing built

          6  in New York City in recent years.

          7                 NYSAFAH must respectfully express our

          8  opposition to Intro 468. While we appreciate the

          9  importance of ensuring access to quality health care

         10  for all workers, this legislation would have a

         11  devastating affect on affordable housing development

         12  and management by raising costs and make it

         13  extremely difficult for small, locally based firms

         14  to continue to operate within the industry.

         15                 We define affordable housing as

         16  housing that is built with federal, state or City

         17  subsidies and sold or rented to low- and middle-

         18  income New Yorkers at a manageable cost, typically

         19  set at 30 percent of their income. Income levels and

         20  rents or sale prices are determined by program

         21  guidelines. An increase in cost to a developer

         22  cannot simply be passed along to the renter or

         23  homeowner, because this would increase the cost

         24  beyond the eligibility guidelines of the program.

         25  Also, federal and state subsidies programs are very
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          2  competitive, with an advantage going to lower cost

          3  projects. Intro 468 will increase the cost of

          4  affordable housing development, which will lead to a

          5  decrease in federal and state affordable housing

          6  dollars for New York City. The result will be fewer

          7  affordable units for our City.

          8                 Further, the bill would create

          9  hardship for the many small, community- based

         10  subcontractors that are the backbone of the

         11  affordable housing industry. As much as possible,

         12  developers try to hire subcontractors from within

         13  the communities in which they are building.

         14  Subcontracts on a 15- unit project, which the bill

         15  establishes as the minimum size covered, could be as

         16  small as several thousand dollars. The roofer or

         17  mason on one of these projects may have only one or

         18  two seasonal employees. He or she does not have the

         19  resources to pay for the same level of health

         20  coverage for these employees that the City of New

         21  York can offer its workers, nor can a small

         22  operation like this easily absorb all of the record

         23  keeping that the legislation would require. As a

         24  result, this work would go to more established and

         25  sophisticated firms from outside of the neighborhood
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          2  which I think is a far cry from the goal of leveling

          3  the playing field that we talked about before.

          4                 Including building management

          5  personnel in the bill will also have serious

          6  consequences for affordable housing. In addition to

          7  development, our members generally own and manage

          8  their properties after they are built. In order to

          9  maintain the buildings to the highest standards

         10  while keeping rents affordable, long range

         11  maintenance and operating budgets are established by

         12  the developer in cooperation with the government

         13  funding sources before anyone even moves in. While

         14  rent increases are limited by both rent

         15  stabilization and more restrictively, programmatic

         16  income guidelines, maintenance and operating costs

         17  have no such constraints. We are already trying to

         18   --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry. It's

         20  great and everybody should hold up the signs, but

         21  clearly there is not that much wind in this room.

         22  So, since I think the gale force winds have

         23  subsided, we should try to hold them as quiet as

         24  possible because I may not agree with everything

         25  these witnesses are saying, but some of it and some
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          2  of the dialogue we've had with sectors who are

          3  involved to date has been very helpful. It's helped

          4  us refine the bill to get the goal that we need. We

          5  actually need to hear from the opponents to make

          6  sure, one if they take us to court, we know their

          7  argument so we then can win in court. But two, so we

          8  can better refine the bill to make sure we're

          9  meeting our goal. In an effort to help those of us

         10  who are the sponsors of this bill, which I'm the

         11  lead sponsor, I do need to be able to hear the

         12  witnesses. I feel like the winds have subsided. Go

         13  ahead.

         14                 MR. CARR: I appreciate that Madam

         15  Chair. We certainly appreciate the support that the

         16  Council has given over and over again to affordable

         17  housing, most recently by directing $12.5 million to

         18  a tiered income program that we developed jointly

         19  with ACORN. Unfortunately, we feel this bill will

         20  have very serious unintended consequences for both

         21  existing affordable housing and future developments.

         22  We urge you not to approve this bill. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just go ahead

         24  while we work on technology issues. Go ahead.

         25                 MR. HALPERIN: My name is Don
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          2  Halperin. I'm here today representing the New York

          3  Metropolitan Retail Association, an organization

          4  consisting primarily of national chain retailers

          5  operating in the City of New York. While we

          6  appreciate the noble goals of this legislation, we

          7  must respectfully oppose it on the following

          8  grounds.

          9                 It's an unprecedented attempt to

         10  impose mandates on businesses that do not directly

         11  benefit from business with New York City. And we

         12  also feel and it was discussed at under ERISA as

         13  multi- state employers, the program would be barred.

         14  It creates an additional disadvantage to competition

         15  with retail businesses bordering on New York City.

         16  It could throw into chaos existing medical benefits

         17  already made available by employees of NYMRA who

         18  operate on a national basis. And by the way, I

         19  believe all, certainly if not all, almost all NYMRA

         20  members do provide health care benefits. It would

         21  discourage the employment of certain categories of

         22  workers. And it would exclude certain retailers.

         23  There are certain provisions which I understand the

         24  Chair has acknowledged which might unintentionally

         25  bring into the ambient of the legislation those who
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          2  would otherwise not be involved. We are concerned

          3  about the precedent that this would set.

          4                 In essence, this creates a prevailing

          5  wage type law for health benefits and while those

          6  who compete under the prevailing wage laws, compete

          7  against one another and on an equal playing field

          8  here, those businesses in New York City would have

          9  to provide certain benefits would those once again

         10  right on the outskirts of New York City, right

         11  across in New Jersey or wherever, may not have to

         12  provide or won't have to provide. Various shopping

         13  malls, if you just go visit them, you'll see all of

         14  the New York State licenses and there are many from

         15  New York City.

         16                 Even where substantial medical

         17  benefits are provided by members, they would be

         18  subject to micromanagement in an effort to determine

         19  whether they meet the prevailing standard. Arduously

         20  crafted medical programs could be subject to unique

         21  requirements in the City of New York; thereby

         22  undermining the capacity of the employers to

         23  negotiate the most favorable package with health

         24  care insurance providers on a national basis. The

         25  legislation obviously intends to exclude certain
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          2  types of retailers. I made reference to the fact

          3  that I understand that you will be looking at this

          4  particular issue, but for instance, a retailer not

          5  otherwise included under this legislation might

          6  employ several security guards. Perhaps five

          7  security guards out of 200 employees. They

          8  technically would fall under the definition of

          9  building service employees and the employer would

         10  face the alternatives of either providing health

         11  care to everyone which was not intended or trying to

         12  provide separate types of health care for these

         13  employees or most probably not hiring those

         14  employees.

         15                 The choice for the retailer --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We forget to start

         17  the clock. So if you could sum up.

         18                 MR. HALPERIN: At any rate, those are

         19  the primary issues and I am prepared to continue to

         20  work with you to resolve these or any others.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. I want

         22  to start with Ms. Nealis. Is that right? The intent

         23  of this bill as I think you probably heard from the

         24  or one of the intents of this bill as you heard when

         25  we were talking to the Administration is to get to
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          2  larger employers. We are certainly willing to sit

          3  down with the Cleaners Association and look at some

          4  of the size issues that we discussed with other

          5  industries. I just want to be clear as you read your

          6  testimony further, I think this is clear, but what

          7  we're talking about here is industrial laundries.

          8  We're not talking about your corner dry cleaners. I

          9  want to make sure that people know that. Industrial

         10  laundry is a big business in the City of New York

         11  which the City itself has massive contracts with

         12  which many of the largest hotels, restaurants, et

         13  cetera have huge contracts with. I don't think that

         14  industry and if we put size on it to make sure that

         15  it's clear are people who are going to in any way

         16  shape or form -- who are existing so at the margins

         17  that they would be put out of business.

         18                 The example you gave of a cleaner who

         19  the employees came and said instead of insurance,

         20  give us a raise. Obviously, that person could have

         21  paid into a fee. They had money that could be spent.

         22  I don't think that was an example that I thought was

         23  supportive to my side of the argument versus

         24  opposition. But I just want to make clear, this is

         25  not about your mom and pop dry cleaner. It's about
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          2  the industrial laundries. If there is a way to

          3  better write this to make that goal clear, we're

          4  happy to consider your suggestions in following up

          5  on this and our follow up work with the Brennan

          6  Center and others. We'll be obviously constantly

          7  retooling. If you have even particular language you

          8  would like to forward to the Council, Gelvina

          9  Stevenson, we're happy to take a look at that. But

         10  we just want to be clear, that said, we're not going

         11  to remove industrial laundries or eliminate the goal

         12  of covering industrial laundries.

         13                 MS. NEALIS: Nor was I advocating for

         14  that. The point I was trying to make with the member

         15  was that those members who have an organization such

         16  that they could afford it or could provide it, often

         17  find themselves working with the employee where the

         18  employee would rather have the money in this case

         19  than the coverage. That might have been because they

         20  were covered through husband's or wife's plans or

         21  whatever. But basically our concern is the mom and

         22  pop dry cleaner, not the big industrial laundries

         23  who aren't members.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, fair enough.

         25  Don and I want to thank you for your work to date
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          2  helping us on this bill. I was a little surprised

          3  that the retail folks came out and have such

          4  concerns about this bill particularly since

          5  Grestidi's, Fairway, some of the large employers and

          6  large entities are supportive of this bill. Why is

          7  there somewhat of a split then?

          8                 MR. HALPERIN: Because once again and

          9  by the way, just for the record to show, I actually

         10  do work for both of these other organizations

         11  although I here specifically testifying on behalf of

         12  the retailers. The retailers, their concern is not

         13  that they, because most of them do provide coverage

         14   --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

         16                 MS. HALPERIN: -- But they are

         17  concerned about the provisions relating to part-

         18  time employees. They are concerned about if there is

         19  something about their plan that varies from what is

         20  determined to be the prevailing standard, they will,

         21  I guess have to meet that prevailing standard which

         22  may be inconsistent with the plan that they provide

         23  that might provide 95 percent of the other benefits

         24  that the prevailing standard would require. But

         25  because of the inconsistent aspect of it and the
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          2  oversight by a government entity that would be

          3  determining whether or not they in effect meet all

          4  the tests of the prevailing standard, it could

          5  require them to either try to restructure the health

          6  insurance only within the City of New York, which if

          7  they have a national contract would be a major

          8  problem. It would apply all kinds of additional

          9  costs or I don't know what their other alternatives

         10  would be. That is essentially what they are

         11  concerned about. Not that they don't provide health

         12  care, but meeting the specific standards which may

         13  be inconsistent with the national program.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can I ask a

         15  question? In the first paragraph of your testimony,

         16  you list some of the members --

         17                 MR. HALPERIN: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: -- Of the

         19  Metropolitan Retail Association, Federated Macy's,

         20  Bloomingdales, Bergdorf's, K- mart, the Gap, et

         21  cetera. Those department stores are not covered by

         22  this bill.

         23                 MR. HALPERIN: Correct, if we resolve

         24  that other problem.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And your concern
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          2  was that the Metropolitan Retail Association

          3  believed that if Macy's had a security guard --

          4                 MR. HALPERIN: Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: -- That that

          6  security guard would fall under builder service as

          7  defined in this bill.

          8                 MR. HALPERIN: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: But there has been

         10  discussions and that has been clarified that's not

         11  the case. Then --

         12                 MR. HALPERIN: Well, it wouldn't be

         13  the case if you address the problem.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, fine. I mean

         15  it's not the intent and I don't really think the

         16  bill reads that way and we're going to clarify it.

         17  So, fine. Assume that there is a follow- up and we

         18  clarify that we define building services, we're not

         19  meaning the six or whatever it is security guards at

         20  Macy's, or whatever the number is, then the

         21  Metropolitan Retail Association no longer objects to

         22  this bill?

         23                 MR. HALPERIN: I guess the answer is,

         24  they would not aggressively oppose it --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's like being

                                                            99

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  a little bit pregnant. What does that mean?

          3                 MR. HALPERIN: Because as I stated and

          4  I had trouble getting through the whole testimonial,

          5  they are concerned about the precedent and it was

          6  stated at this very hearing that this may only be

          7  the beginning of an effort to have this program

          8  affect every employer in New York City. I guess they

          9  realized even before that was stated at the hearing

         10  that that was a possibility. They do have certain

         11  concerns, but they would be tremendously ameliorated

         12  by the clarification. Now there may be some members

         13  in some of their operations, not in all of their

         14  operations, that still might be covered by the bill

         15  as relates to the groceries.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, okay.

         17                 MR. HALPERIN: Some of them could be,

         18  certainly not Macy's. Certainly not Home Depot,

         19  certainly not Circuit City or the Gap or any of

         20  those.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Groceries are

         22  absolutely we're trying to capture. We're not trying

         23  to capture retail clothes stores for example. So we

         24  will clarify that and I think we should have further

         25  discussions about the non- aggressive opposition or
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          2  however you described it. Because I would think that

          3  the change would be enough to move people to

          4  minimally neutrality.

          5                 MR. HALPERIN: I would say when the

          6  bill first came out and I spoke with some members,

          7  some members said okay if it doesn't affect us, then

          8  fine. But then other members raised concerns based

          9  upon what they viewed as a precedent.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I might have more

         11  questions. But Council Member Clarke has a question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you,

         13  Madam Chair. I found it quite interesting just the

         14  response from the industries and I to a certain

         15  degree can see where you are coming from. I just

         16  wondered whether in the industries, the executives

         17  of these entities have health care coverage.

         18                 MR. HALPERIN: My guess would be that

         19  they do. But as I stated, so do the workers. I

         20  didn't do a total survey, but I do know in the vast

         21  majority, if not all of the members of the New York

         22  Metropolitan Retail Association, they do provide

         23  health care benefits.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay. That's

         25  the same for the folks in your industry in
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          2  Affordable Housing?

          3                 MR. CARR: Well, I don't have health

          4  coverage through my employer right now.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay. We need

          6  to be fighting for you too.

          7                 MR. CARR: As in the case that Don

          8  just mentioned, the vast majority of the folks who

          9  work in all aspects of our industry have coverage. I

         10  think that our concerns are with the mom and pop

         11  operations who we really depend on to do a lot of

         12  subcontracting work. Our concerns are also as Don

         13  had mentioned that for instance in some of the

         14  apartment buildings, the staff in the subsidized

         15  affordable apartment buildings might not have the

         16  same level of coverage as City workers have or as

         17  the bill as I understand would mandate. The problem

         18  becomes say an rent stabilized apartment building

         19  where increases in cost ultimately kind of work

         20  their way through the rank guidelines board and do

         21  find their way into rents. In affordable housing

         22  buildings, typically the rents, there is a ceiling

         23  that's established by the tenants income. You can't

         24  just pass along these increased costs. But again, I

         25  will say really the vast majority of folks who work
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          2  in our industries, certainly of our members, do have

          3  coverage. Not just the executives, but the employees

          4  as well. I'm working on getting it from myself for

          5  next year.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Wonderful. I

          7  think that your final statement is probably the most

          8  salient. What I heard about the concerns for the

          9  precedent is kind of disturbing. I say simply

         10  because we should be concerned about what the status

         11  quo is right now. When you look at the ultimate cost

         12  in the City of New York for having individuals who

         13  are uninsured to the tax payers on the other end and

         14  the users of the emergency rooms and the users of

         15  just about every service that could have prevented

         16  illness from the outset, the sick days for

         17  employers, the low productivity for having someone.

         18                 As a matter of fact, they did a

         19  recent study and you may have seen it where the say

         20  that workers who come into work sick have the lowest

         21  productivity in the work environment. That's just

         22  with a common cold. Are we cutting off our nose

         23  despite our face? Are we at a point in our society

         24  where we're not doing an appropriate cost benefit

         25  analysis of the industries that we're talking about
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          2  here. While I understand that competition is a key

          3  factor here and that New York may be doing something

          4  that's unprecedented, ultimately I believe that when

          5  we look at what is costing us in the long- run, all

          6  the concerns that we have about rent stabilization

          7  and raising rents and the costs of the pass along in

          8  terms of tax increases are going to come out anyway.

          9  Because we're paying the price on the other end.

         10  It's an extraordinary cost.

         11                 When someone gets to the point where

         12  they're so ill that they end up in an emergency room

         13  or they end up in our municipal health care system

         14  when it could have been prevented at a much lower

         15  cost to everyone. I want you to take that back to

         16  your industries as another way of looking at this

         17  discussion. Because ultimately, we're going to have

         18  to move to that as a society if we're going to

         19  really contain costs as one would say.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Anything you want

         21  to respond?

         22                 MR. CARR: Only that we really believe

         23  that this will ultimately translate into fewer state

         24  and fewer federal affordable housing dollars for the

         25  City which will directly translate into fewer
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          2  affordable units and I think that from the point of

          3  view of people's health, I think it is important to

          4  get people out of run down unaffordable housing into

          5  safe sanitary new subsidized affordable housing.

          6                 MR. HALPERIN: Let me just also and

          7  I'm speaking on behalf of NYSAFAH, what happens is

          8  when you apply for money from a government entity,

          9  the project is underwritten based on a projection of

         10  costs. And then as Bernie properly pointed out, you

         11  must make those units affordable to people of a

         12  certain income. You cannot raise the rents beyond a

         13  certain percentage of their income. If now, we're

         14  going to impose additional costs on the operation of

         15  those buildings, there is no way for the operator of

         16  the building (many of whom are non- profit by the

         17  way), to go back and recapture that money and the

         18  buildings could be thrown into fiscal distress and

         19  may not even be able to operate. I guess one of the

         20  things maybe the Committee would want to look at is

         21  what do you do with existing circumstances relating

         22  to the operation of affordable housing.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Then again I

         24  wanted to just raise the whole issue again of the

         25  cost benefit analysis. Those individuals who work in
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          2  those buildings who become ill or who are working

          3  while ill, there is going to be a cost when that

          4  person has to take sick leave, when you have to

          5  replace that person in terms of hiring. There is a

          6  cost factor in there. And you know it is very easy

          7  in a macro sense to look at things and sort of gloss

          8  it over because to a large extent in terms of the

          9  status quo, we've seen human beings as being

         10  dispensable. Oh, there will be another person who

         11  comes along. But it's still costing us. I don't know

         12  that we're looking realistically at what it's

         13  costing us or there is some other factors that

         14  encourage us to stay in the status quo as opposed to

         15  looking at a new paradigm that will save us money

         16  and elevate our industries in the long run. That's

         17  all that I'm saying.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: On the housing

         19  stuff, I think a little bit of your testimony

         20  characterized the majority of your membership as mom

         21  and pop developers --

         22                 MR. CARR: Not the majority of our

         23  membership. Let me just clarify. The majority of the

         24  subcontractors, our membership draws on developers.

         25  It draws on everybody that is involved in the

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  affordable housing business. But the people actually

          3  go out and build most of the projects, try to

          4  subcontract as much as they can within the

          5  communities in which they are working. A lot of the

          6  subcontractors that then actually are involved in

          7  the construction are small mom and pop businesses,

          8  small neighborhood started businesses.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Your objection is

         10  really then that this bill captures contractors and

         11  subcontractors?

         12                 MR. CARR: One of the objections is

         13  that a lot of very small businesses that really are

         14  the backbone of the industry will be harmed by this

         15  and the general contractors who usually only have a

         16  couple of employees, but the general contractors

         17  will then --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So the general

         19  contractors association is supportive of the bill.

         20  They may want to speak for themselves.

         21                 MR. CARR: Right. But I'm talking

         22  about the general contractors who are our members

         23  who are involved in affordable housing development.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         25                 MR. CARR: I'm only speaking about the
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          2  role of affordable housing development, subsidized

          3  affordable housing development. I really can't speak

          4  for anything outside of that. I don't intend to

          5  speak for anything outside of that. But what will

          6  happen is the general contractors who specialize in

          7  affordable housing development will go and hire

          8  instead larger companies that may charge them a

          9  little bit more, but already have more members that

         10  have better health benefits and as a result, the

         11  locally based folks are going to lose out.

         12                 It's really important to our members

         13  because they work in the community. They're visible

         14  in the community. They receive government subsidies

         15  for the work they do. It's really important to them

         16  to hire within the communities in which they do

         17  work. They don't want to go and hire like the big

         18  construction company that's based on 23rd Street.

         19  They really want to hire the guy who is on Lennox

         20  Avenue or the guy who is based on 173rd Street in

         21  the Bronx.

         22                 MR. HALPERIN: I guess once again

         23  speaking on behalf of NYSAFAH, the reason that the

         24  other contractors might support it is because they

         25  would prefer to be doing the work rather than some
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          2  local subcontractors.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Let them say why

          4  they support it. It's best for people to say their

          5  own reasons of support or opposition.

          6                 MR. HALPERIN: But, what we're talking

          7  about here and it's not just that our members prefer

          8  to do this which they do, but the very agencies that

          9  provide them with funding give them credit in

         10  essence in their application process if they

         11  demonstrate that they will in fact utilize community

         12  based small often start up subcontractors. That

         13  contract when you speak in terms of the overall

         14  contract as the bill sets the threshold at $1

         15  million for an overall project, the roofing contract

         16  may be, I don't know, $30,000. We're not talking

         17  about very large contracts. Perhaps, one approach to

         18  the issue we're raising would be to look at the

         19  actual subcontract and not base it on the total cost

         20  of the project.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If we were to look

         22  at the subcontractor issue again, because as I said

         23  a couple of times in response to different folks,

         24  the mom and pops aren't the goal here. If we were to

         25  look at the subcontractor; let's just for argument
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          2  sake say, just for argument sake, say that the bill

          3  somehow inadvertently overly impacted the mom and

          4  pop construction folks. And we address that if just

          5  for argument sake that was the case, would that then

          6  address NYSAFAH's concern?

          7                 MR. CARR: That would address one of

          8  our two concerns.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You would still

         10  probably be the aggressively or less aggressively

         11  opposed.

         12                 MR. CARR: As opposed to a little

         13  pregnant.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Exactly.

         15                 MR. CARR: There really still is an

         16  issue in ongoing established operating projects

         17  where, because people's income unfortunately aren't

         18  going up, you don't have the opportunity to pass the

         19  cost along like a regular rent stabilized apartment

         20  could. There is still remains and I'm not sure what

         21  the answer is to that besides exempting existing

         22  municipal assisted subsidized projects. I think that

         23  that aspect of it would still need to be addressed

         24  in addition to the mom and pop. And I'm certainly

         25  happy to hear, Madam Chair, when you spoke earlier
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          2  that the mom and pop businesses that you're not

          3  looking to go after mom and pop businesses with us.

          4  That makes a big difference to us. But the operating

          5  issue, we need to try to figure out some way to deal

          6  with the operating issue as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I'm sorry, go

          8  ahead.

          9                 MR. CARR: I just want to say that the

         10  affordable housing world, we're a very small part of

         11  the New York City construction world. I can't guess

         12  what fraction of what percent of all the

         13  construction that goes on in New York City is

         14  subsidized affordable housing construction. But

         15  without our members and the subsidies that we use,

         16  there is an affordable housing being helped. I think

         17  we really do need to look at the specific effects as

         18  I'm sure you will that this has on this one very

         19  small, but very critical part of the construction

         20  industry.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We will definitely

         22  follow- up after the hearing on this mom and pop

         23  issue so to speak. I understand your concerns and

         24  the need for this bill to be weighed carefully as it

         25  not have any negative affect on other positive
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          2  things like affordable housing. I think that we also

          3  have to be mindful of the irony may not be the right

          4  word, but the reality that quality affordable

          5  housing gets built in this City and then some of the

          6  very same workers we're talking about today may end

          7  up living there and have to make a choice between

          8  paying their rent or paying the private insurance

          9  they have to access even though they work very hard

         10  sometimes every day. We will be mindful, absolutely

         11  of not inadvertently creating a negative. But we

         12  also have to be mindful of that reality that the

         13  very -- your members build housing that the workers

         14  we're talking about live in and they may not be able

         15  to have health care because they have to pay their

         16  affordable rent and that may take up the vast

         17  majority of their income and they simply can't pay

         18  for private insurance and we need to deal with that

         19  reality that exists as well as we balance other

         20  concerns. Council Member Stewart has a question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just wanted

         22  to touch on a couple of points. First on the

         23  affordable housing bit that you mentioned, in doing

         24  the construction and doing the building and all of

         25  that, it's mandatory you get liability insurance and
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          2  unemployment insurance. This is just another small

          3  part and I don't see it as being really a problem in

          4  terms of having some sort of fee for insurance. I

          5  don't buy that argument that it will drive folks who

          6  are not building any new homes or anything like

          7  that.

          8                 The other thing that I wanted to --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's a very

         10  interesting point, Council Member.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes. Another

         12  thing I wanted to look at is some time ago, some

         13  years ago, our leaders saw it fit that when people

         14  reach 65 or older, they become seniors and they may

         15  not be able to take care of themselves in terms of

         16  healthcare. So they established what we call

         17  Medicare. They take money from everyone that works

         18  and put it in a pool in the form of insurance. We

         19  are saying basically the same thing for those folks

         20  now that may need the insurance now that may not

         21  have reached that age of 65. And so what I'm saying

         22  basically because the federal government failed in

         23  doing that for everyone, should we in the City fail

         24  too? That's what I'm looking at. You think we should

         25  fail because the federal government failed to
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          2  include or deal with folks who may not reach that

          3  age and they work and they cannot afford because of

          4  the threshold in terms of what income they're making

          5  in terms of what is available right now. Should we

          6  fail to take care of those folks?

          7                 My other point that I want to talk

          8  about is that, Mr. Halperin, you mentioned about the

          9  fact that these things may cause as far as the

         10  retailers industry is concerned that we go to Jersey

         11  or may go next door. We have a quite a lot of

         12  different things that we do here in New York and we

         13  still survive. We're still here. If you are saying

         14  that people, as far as retailers is concerned sort

         15  of unfair advantage and they would go to Jersey and

         16  go to those places, I feel that if they have to go,

         17  they would have gone already. New York will still

         18  remain New York and we here look out for our people

         19  here. Anybody that comes here and work here, we have

         20  to look out for them.

         21                 The other question that I wanted to

         22  address is I don't know if you want us to make a

         23  suggestion as to the size in terms of the number of

         24  employees or if you want to include the number of

         25  hours worked. I don't know. That has not been
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          2  addressed. If you would at least look to see if

          3  there is anything that can be worked out to

          4  safeguard some of those industries that you feel

          5  that may not be able to deal with this burden, maybe

          6  we can work something out to deal with the size and

          7  the type of industries that we're dealing with and

          8  the amount of hours, all of those things. That can

          9  be worked out. But to blindly object to this where

         10  we try to protect our workers, I really can't buy

         11  it.

         12                 MR. HALPERIN: I'd like to

         13  respectfully respond and I don't we don't get too

         14  far field here. But I spent from 1971 until 1993 in

         15  government and most of those years were in the state

         16  legislature. From the 1970's to the 1980's, we spent

         17  most of our time trying to get New York City and New

         18  York State back on track because it had gone beyond

         19  itself in what it attempted to do and we had some

         20  really terrible budget cutting crisis and all kinds

         21  of problems. I very much respect the progressive

         22  tradition of New York City. I've been a New York

         23  City resident my entire life. I remain a New York

         24  City resident. I'm very sympathetic to many of the

         25  goals. But sometimes we go beyond ourselves and to
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          2  say that if the retail industry was already

          3  suffering, it would be already is very accurate. It

          4  already is.

          5                 If you go across to New Jersey, which

          6  for instance doesn't have the sales tax on clothing,

          7  you will see a substantial number and there have

          8  been studies on this, of cars parked in New Jersey

          9  shopping malls from New York City. We are already

         10  losing business. Now where the specific margin of

         11  competition tips to what degree, I don't know that

         12  anyone can say it. But there is a cumulative affect

         13  of trying to do everything that may be right in a

         14  sense and not taking into account the reality of the

         15  affect on the industry.

         16                 Also, let me just say that as it

         17  relates to affordable housing, yes, the tremendous

         18  insurance rates that are currently being imposed on

         19  the industry already reduces the number of

         20  affordable housing units we're able to build because

         21  it requires putting more subsidy into the housing in

         22  order to pay for that. That's been a major issue of

         23  ours, not with New York City, but up in New York

         24  State where we are trying to do things to keep those

         25  costs under control that is already a very
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          2  significant problem. And there are projects that

          3  have not been built because they could not be

          4  brought in within the parameters of the program for

          5  the costs that would support them. That is a problem

          6  right now, those other insurance costs. It's not

          7  something that may happen in the future.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I share your

          9  sentiment, but you got also take the human side of

         10  it also. You've got to look at from both sides. You

         11  can't look at from one side and say listen, there is

         12  a cost to everything. Failure to do that, there is a

         13  cost. And that's the reason why you have liability

         14  insurance because there is a cost to the State and

         15  the City. There is a cost if something goes wrong,

         16  there is a cost. We understand that. To say that

         17  because of there is a cost, we're not going to take

         18  care of the employees, to me that's not a good

         19  enough excuse. And I don't even think it's that much

         20  of a difference from what it is right now. What's

         21  happening in terms of people going to Jersey, we

         22  talk about all the boom that is happening in New

         23  York City today, we still have a higher sales tax

         24  than Jersey. But you can see we are still booming.

         25  We are still striving.
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          2                 If some people go to Jersey to shop,

          3  they go up to Connecticut. They go all over the

          4  place. People leave other places and come to New

          5  York also. We don't check to see how many cars are

          6  from other places that come here and shop. You never

          7  hear anyone talk about that. There are many, many

          8  people that come here and go to Fifth Avenue and

          9  shop from other places. We don't check that. But we

         10  have the highest sales tax. Using that argument to

         11  me is not a fair argument because you see a few cars

         12  parked in the parking lot at some place in Jersey.

         13  Madam Chair, I thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you all very

         15  much. We will call up the next panel which is Lou

         16  Coletti, Howard Glickberg and Gilbert Rivera. Then

         17  after that panel is finished, the next panel will be

         18  Vicente Mayorga, Norma Milligan, Graciela Gil, I'm

         19  sorry I'm butchering these names, and then I think

         20  that's it. That's after this panel. I just want to

         21  say that Stephen Gianotti of Arcadia Electric who is

         22  in support of the bill was suppose to be a part of

         23  this panel. He unfortunately had a time constraint

         24  and had to leave. But we are making his testimony in

         25  support part of the record. If folks could exit
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          2  quietly and folks should go in whatever order they

          3  think works best.

          4                 MR. RIVERA: Okay. I've been

          5  designated as going first. My name is Gilbert

          6  Rivera. I have been in the construction and

          7  renovation business for 25 years. I started a small

          8  business in Brooklyn 25 years ago and now I run AM&G

          9  Waterproofing, LLC. I am also a Board Member of the

         10  National Hispanic Business Group and a member of the

         11  Minority Business Leadership Council. I am here

         12  today to tell the City Council that, as a business

         13  owner in New York City, I support the New York City

         14  Health Care Security Act. I believe that New York

         15  City Health Care Security Act will not only help

         16  employees, but also help keep responsible businesses

         17  operating in our great City.

         18                 I started my business 25 years ago.

         19  We were a small construction company in Brooklyn.

         20  Now that small construction business has grown to

         21  250 unionized workers and 47 non- union workers in

         22  our offices. Throughout all the years of running my

         23  business, I have always provided health care to my

         24  employees. If you have an employee and their child

         25  gets sick and they do not have health care when they
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          2  go to the doctor, the stress factor is terrible on

          3  that employee. Going to the emergency room,

          4  wondering how much the bill is going to be, hoping

          5  can you afford it. It is not right that they cannot

          6  provide health care for their children. I just can't

          7  see anyone working a decent job, going to work every

          8  day, every year and not having medical insurance. It

          9  is like not knowing where your next meal is coming

         10  from.

         11                 With medical insurance increasing

         12  every year, ten percent, 15 percent, 17 percent a

         13  year, it is hard for me to compete with firms that

         14  do not provide health insurance for their employees.

         15  I spend $350,000 providing health care for my

         16  employees. I give all of my workers, union workers,

         17  office people, show room people, medical insurance.

         18  But every year, costs go up ten percent. That's

         19  $350,000 more costs I have than other companies that

         20  do not provide health care compounded by ten percent

         21  each year. That gives the other companies a huge

         22  edge on me.

         23                 This means that I have to look for

         24  those jobs that we can afford to do. Sometimes we

         25  take jobs where we are not making a profit because
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          2  we do not want to lose a customer. We take a job at

          3  a lower price. If you take a lot of jobs like that

          4  each year, you'll not make a profit unless something

          5  is done. I might not be able to stay in business. It

          6  is getting harder and harder to do the right thing.

          7  The competition is making a ton of money. It is so

          8  irresponsible. We just cannot compete against

          9  businesses that do not provide health insurance.

         10  This is why I am a strong supporter of the Health

         11  Care Security Act. I believe it will level the

         12  playing field and help businesses owners like me

         13  stay in business.

         14                 But, more importantly, it will give

         15  more workers in this great City access to affordable

         16  health care. New York City is the capital of the

         17  world and if we cannot fill the basic needs of an

         18  employee, then we are in trouble. If we cannot

         19  supply health care to the workers in this City,

         20  where people make millions of dollars, we cannot

         21  fill the basic needs of the people who take care of

         22  us, then the world is unscrupulous.

         23                 But if we make it that all businesses

         24  pay the same thing, if we're all on the same page,

         25  if everyone puts health care on their line item for
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          2  a cost, I believe we can accomplish this. We can

          3  have both a vibrant, healthy economy and give more

          4  New Yorkers affordable health care. Thank you.

          5                 MR. GLICKBERG: Hi, my name is Howard

          6  Glickberg. I'm the owner of Fairway Markets.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If the light's

          8  off, it's on.

          9                 MR. GLICKBERG: No, the green light is

         10  on.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just move a little

         12  closer.

         13                 MR. GLICKBERG: Hello, my name is

         14  Howard Glickberg. I'm the owner of Fairway Market.

         15  I'm also a trustee on my employees health insurance

         16  plan. Fairway was started by my grandfather 55 years

         17  ago with a full service fruit and vegetable store.

         18  Over the last 55 years, we grown and I guess we've

         19  become a New York institution. We currently operate

         20  three years, on the Upper West Side, in Harlem and

         21  in Plainview and we're currently building a store in

         22  Brooklyn.

         23                 Food retailing is a highly

         24  competitive industry with a razor thin profit

         25  margins. Fix costs are steep. We do everything we

                                                            122

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  can to deliver quality products and excellent

          3  service to our customers. In fact, this is how we've

          4  become successful. The employees at our two New York

          5  City locations are critical component of our winning

          6  business strategy. The most costly benefit I provide

          7  is complete health insurance for my workers. I pay

          8  the full cost of this health insurance premium. No

          9  cost to my employees. My full- time employees and

         10  their families receive choices of major medical

         11  which covers 80 percent of their bills or they may

         12  choose to go to a preferred provider and pay only

         13  $25.00. They have a prescription card with minimal

         14  co-pay of $8,000 a year. They have over a $1 million

         15  life time coverage for themselves and another $1

         16  million for additional family members. They have

         17  comprehensive dental, vision, and life insurance

         18  plans as well.

         19                 My employees are well provided for. I

         20  pay full premiums for all of them. They work hard

         21  and deserve to be treated right. I will put my

         22  health plan against anyone in the industry.

         23  Recruiting and retaining these employees is a key to

         24  maintaining a stable and productive work force. And

         25  our employee health care packages is a vital
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          2  component of this. Our experience demonstrates that

          3  employees who have quality and affordable health

          4  care are more productive, have a lower absentee

          5  rate, and stay on the job longer. This enables us to

          6  maintain our business in the community.

          7                 However, over the last ten to 15

          8  years, we have seen increasing competition from

          9  competitors that slash labor costs in order to cut

         10  prices. A whole new set of gourmet groceries have

         11  arisen in New York City. They include firms like

         12  Garden of Eden, Gourmet Garage, Ciderallas

         13  (phonetic), Whole Foods and a new giant that is

         14  moving into our neighborhood, Wal- Mart. Most of

         15  these firms offer little or no health coverage to

         16  their employees. That means that their prices can be

         17  lower than ours because they save on health care

         18  costs. But there is a social cost to their

         19  irresponsible actions also.

         20                 We, as tax payers and business owners

         21  pay for the health care of their workers when they

         22  go to the emergency room and get care. I know from

         23  experience that there is two levels of billing in an

         24  emergency room. One for people who have insurance

         25  and a lesser rate for people who don't. So at the
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          2  end of the day, we pay their costs. As a business

          3  leader who does the right thing, my firm is punished

          4  both in the market place and at tax time simply

          5  because some of my competitors take the low road.

          6                 As health care costs increase year

          7  after year, it gets more and more difficult for us

          8  to maintain our current level of employee health

          9  coverage. If our competition continues to undercut

         10  us by not providing health care, this problem will

         11  only get more acute. However, if we had a level

         12  playing field, if all and leading large groceries

         13  operating in New York City competed on an even

         14  playing field, then we could be more reasonably

         15  maintain quality and affordable health care for our

         16  employees. It's for this reason that I support the

         17  New York City Health Care Security Act and I

         18  strongly urge the City Council to pass this and

         19  implement this important legislation.

         20                 Also, what's happen in our industry

         21  in the last month, Pathmark has put themselves up

         22  for sale because they can't compete. Just yesterday,

         23  A&P announced massive cuts in their employment

         24  forces because they can't compete. It's becoming

         25  increasing aware to us that it's hard for us people,
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          2  myself, Grestidi's, D'Agostinos people who have been

          3  here for generations. It's getting harder and harder

          4  for us to compete with newcomers into our City who

          5  just basically undercut us because they don't have

          6  the same cost that we have.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. Go

          8  ahead.

          9                 MR. COLETTI: Thank you, Madam Chair

         10  and members of the Committee. My name is Louis

         11  Coletti. I'm President of the Building Trades

         12  Employers Association and I'm here representing

         13  1,500 contractors who employ 25,000 people in our

         14  respective offices and employee the 100,000 members

         15  of organized labor.

         16                 I went back in my files before I came

         17  to the hearing today and I believe this report was

         18  provided by the City Council many years before

         19  anyone before us sat on the Council. We believe very

         20  strongly in the bill that should be passed that's

         21  before you. But I think this is really the issue.

         22  This was a report done by the City Council called

         23  New York City Middle Class the Need For New Urban

         24  Agenda. We believe very strongly that this bill

         25  becomes one of the first public policies that
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          2  addresses that issue. I just want to read one

          3  sentence in it because it was scary then and it's

          4  scary today. In our first report, hollow in the

          5  middle, the rise and fall of New York City's middle-

          6  class, we found that fewer New Yorkers were members

          7  of the middle- class in 1996 than was the case in

          8  1977. And to be honest with you, I don't think it's

          9  gotten any better since then. It hasn't gotten any

         10  better since then because of many of the factors

         11  that you've heard from my two colleagues sitting

         12  next to me. People are paying lower wages. People

         13  are looking to cut costs and where do they go, to

         14  the biggest cost area and that's health care.

         15                 In our industry, 97 percent of our

         16  members are covered by health care. Paid by the

         17  employers into an employer/employee funds as opposed

         18  to less than 50 percent in the non- union sector.

         19  When you look at the non- union sector, you say how

         20  old are the people in that sector. Twenty- nine

         21  percent are younger than 35 and 45 percent are

         22  between the ages of 35 and 54 years old. This is a

         23  population group that has young families, that is

         24  trying to make a living, trying to send their

         25  children to school, pay rent. The cost for them to
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          2  individually pay for health care will completely

          3  change their lives.

          4                 In addition to that, when you look at

          5  the United States Department of Labor Construction

          6  Deaths and Injuries Report that comes from OSHA,

          7  over the last three years, an average of 75 percent

          8  of these construction related and injuries have

          9  occurred on non- union sites. What happens to those

         10  people who get hurt? Where do they go for health

         11  care? I sat up here listening to the affordable

         12  housing people and I have to say this. I believe

         13  they have opposed the living wage bill. I believe

         14  they opposed the City Council's lead paint bill. Now

         15  I listen to them oppose the health care bill and

         16  maybe one of the reasons -- we employee people in

         17  neighborhoods also. But they get a decent wage.

         18  They're covered by health care.

         19                 When I hear companies that employ one

         20  or two people, I think one of the questions I'd ask

         21  you to consider is where they do get the individuals

         22  from. Passing by on a street corner; fix this house

         23  up over here and when this job is done, you're

         24  finished. And then they go to a different

         25  neighborhood. Do you know what happens to people
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          2  like that when they get hurt? They don't have a job.

          3  Are you going to complain to the employer? You're

          4  fired. There is a cost to this.

          5                 I'm going to sum up. There is really

          6  is as you said Council Member, a cost to this.

          7  Yesterday, the state comptroller announced that

          8  there is a $435 million gap in the Health and

          9  Hospital Corporation budget based upon the fact of

         10  uninsured health care costs and that's likely to

         11  increase to $600 million over the next couple of

         12  years. Ladies and gentlemen, my members pay twice.

         13  We pay for the health benefit cost and we're paying

         14  that as extra money in taxes. We don't want to be

         15  taxed twice and we believe individuals who are

         16  working have a right to have affordable health care

         17  and we urge you to pass the bill.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You all said so

         19  much so well, so concisely we have no questions. But

         20  thank you all very much. Actually before you leave,

         21  I want to thank you for supporting the bill and for

         22  spending so much time down here today and I think

         23  you all represent the employers. And frequently, too

         24  frequently, I think you would agree, when there are

         25  initiatives in this building or any governmental
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          2  building that are designed to help the workers, the

          3  employers will be on the other side. To have a group

          4  of employers not just not be on the other side, but

          5  be actively, proactively supporting something that

          6  will help workers I think is a great thing.

          7  Hopefully, you guys are usually in that place, but

          8  hopefully there will be a shift change for other

          9  employers to see when it happens you don't get

         10  drummed out of the employer club. They let you still

         11  come around. That the sky doesn't fall in and that

         12  good things can happen. I really want to thank you

         13  for spending so much time and for taking that

         14  position. I seriously want to note that it is not

         15  one always or even frequently taking by employers.

         16  When it is, you really need to be applauded for that

         17  because you set a great example in this City. Thank

         18  you very much.

         19                 Last panel is going to be Vicente

         20  Mayorga, Norma Milligan, Graciela Gil and Aysha

         21  Beaumont. If they could come up that would be great.

         22  After Ms. Gil testifies, we'll just need her to sign

         23  a form so we have it for the record, after you

         24  testify. We'll just give you the paperwork you we

         25  need you to sign. I think the Sergeant is going to

                                                            130

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  set up a couple of more chairs if we need them. I

          3  just want to say for the record also, thank the

          4  General Contractors Association, Jeff Elmer, who is

          5  the Deputy Director for Government Relations is here

          6  today and has submitted testimony for the record in

          7  support of the legislation. Since we have another

          8  hearing coming into this room, they think at 1:00,

          9  it will be a little bit delayed, we are not able to

         10  add them to the panels, but I want to thank them

         11  very much for their support, their testimony and for

         12  coming down here today. That was the General

         13  Contractors Association of New York. Thank you.

         14  Whoever would like to go first, that's fine. Just

         15  before you testify, just state your name for the

         16  record. Move the mic closer to you.

         17                 MR. MAYORGA: (Through the

         18  interpreter.) Hello, my name is Vicente Mayorga. I

         19  am 50 years old and I live in Queens. I was trained

         20  as a carpenter in my home country of Ecuador and I

         21  have over 10 years experience working in

         22  construction in New York City. I am also a Board

         23  Member of the community organization, Make the Road

         24  by Walking, in Bushwick, Brooklyn. I am here today

         25  to tell you that I support the New York City Health
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          2  Care Security Act because it will give health care

          3  to the people who work hard to keep this City going,

          4  like my family and I.

          5                 For over ten years, I have worked in

          6  construction. In that time, I worked for four

          7  different companies. For eight of those ten years, I

          8  worked full time. I worked on residential buildings,

          9  new construction, and renovation projects. I usually

         10  worked on big, fancy apartment buildings, 30 to 40

         11  floors. I worked on Park Avenue, on Fifth Avenue; in

         12  houses where people have lots of money. But in all

         13  of my ten years of working construction, I never had

         14  health insurance.

         15                 Because I never had health insurance

         16  through my job, when I got sick or had small

         17  accidents, I had to go to the emergency room. One

         18  time, I went to the emergency room in Bronx- Lebanon

         19  Hospital Center because I had a fever, cough, and

         20  convulsions. Although I was feeling sick for some

         21  time, I could not afford to see a doctor. And so I

         22  waited until I was too sick to work and then went to

         23  the emergency room. It turns out that I had

         24  developed pneumonia. If I could have afforded to see

         25  a doctor sooner, then maybe I could have prevented
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          2  getting so sick. Another time, I had a piece of

          3  metal fly into my eye. I went to the hospital, the

          4  same hospital, and the bill was $2,500. I couldn't

          5  afford the bill. I was earning $10 per hour

          6  installing wooden cabinets, working 50 to 60 hours a

          7  week but only getting paid for 40 hours. Now, I am

          8  unable to work because I injured my back two years

          9  ago. I have hernias in my spine.

         10                 My wife works in a clothing shop. She

         11  too does not have any health insurance. She had an

         12  operation done on her gallbladder at Bellevue

         13  Hospital four years ago. We had to pay $1,200 out of

         14  our pockets for this operation. We paid in

         15  installments. In order to pay our hospital bills, we

         16  had to prioritize and manage our money. We chose to

         17  not buy meat to lower our budget. We couldn't buy

         18  clothing. We didn't go out for recreation. It took

         19  us one year to pay off that one bill. Now, I have a

         20  bill from my wife's recent visit to the hospital: A

         21  bill for $820 for a visit to the emergency room

         22  because my wife was suffering a severe headache. In

         23  the end, all they gave her was two Tylenol's. It was

         24  an outpatient service. We waited for two hours and

         25  saw the doctor for five minutes and it cost us $820.
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          2                 Medical insurance is a big problem

          3  for the people here in New York. Because everything

          4  is so expensive, a regular worker earning the

          5  minimum wage does not have the resources to pay for

          6  health insurance and medical bills out of their

          7  pocket. We need good affordable health care through

          8  our job. All of us immigrants come to this country

          9  and we work really hard. We do the hardest jobs, the

         10  most difficult jobs. We do the riskiest jobs, with

         11  chemicals, without any protection. But we do the

         12  work. We have to work on Saturdays, Sundays. And we

         13  never get overtime.

         14                 We work hard to keep this country,

         15  this City running and we deserve to have health

         16  care. This is why I support the New York City Health

         17  Care Security Act because it will give more workers

         18  and their families the health insurance they deserve

         19  and it will help workers and their families lead

         20  healthier and happier lives. Thank you.

         21                 MS. GIL: Hi, my name is Graciela Gil

         22  and I am a member of Local 32BJ. Thank you for

         23  letting me testify today. I live in Ridgewood in

         24  Queens. I have lived in New York since 1983 when I

         25  moved from my country, Columbia. I have been a
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          2  member of Local 32BJ for 18 years. I am a janitor at

          3  1 Lincoln Plaza and I have worked there for 16

          4  years. One Lincoln Plaza is a commercial office

          5  building at the corner of 64th and Broadway.

          6                 My union is supporting this law

          7  because 32BJ understands how important our health

          8  care is. We need this law to protect our health

          9  care. The most important part of my job is my health

         10  care. Others jobs have the same salary, but not

         11  health care. If I had those jobs, all the salary

         12  would go to paying for health care. If I got sick

         13  then I would have to pay and one, two, three, the

         14  money would be gone. I wouldn't have enough money

         15  for rent and food.

         16                 Seven or eight years ago, I found out

         17  I had cancer in my thyroid. With my 32BJ health

         18  care, I had surgery and they removed two small

         19  tumors from the right side of my thyroid. Now I feel

         20  fine. Even since the surgery, I have had to take

         21  thyroid pills every day. My health care pays for

         22  those pills. Next Friday, I am going to need surgery

         23  again to remove a bunion from my foot. It is very

         24  painful. My surgery is at New York City Hospital on

         25  Main Street in Flushing and thanks to my health care
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          2  coverage, I won't have to pay for anything.

          3                 This year, my union, Local 32BJ

          4  negotiated a new contract. It was a very hard

          5  negotiation because we needed so much more money,

          6  thousands of dollars to pay for our health care. All

          7  the members fought hard for this contract because we

          8  know how important our health care is. And we won.

          9  For me and for all the members of Local 32BJ who use

         10  our health care, please pass the New York City

         11  Health Care Security Act. Thank you.

         12                 MS. MILLIGAN: Good morning, everyone.

         13  My name is Norma Milligan and I'm a resident of

         14  Manhattan for the past 30 years. I have worked in

         15  industrial laundry. I am also an active member of my

         16  union, UNITE/HERE. I am here today to testify in

         17  support of the New York City Health Care Security

         18  Act because I believe it will give more workers and

         19  their families access to affordable health care and

         20  will help build towards a stronger future for New

         21  York City.

         22                 I have worked at Seacrest Laundry for

         23  the past nine years as a laundry worker doing

         24  everything from folding to packing to pressing.

         25  Before working at Seacrest, I worked at New York
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          2  Valley for six years and prior to that I worked at a

          3  professional laundry for a long time. At all of

          4  these laundry jobs, I was fortunate enough to

          5  receive health care insurance from my employer.

          6  Because I have health care insurance, I am able to

          7  see the doctor regularly and get affordable

          8  prescription drugs. This type of preventative care

          9  helps me to stay healthy and active and continue to

         10  be able to work. To stay in the work force, you have

         11  to stay healthy and to stay healthy, you need health

         12  care.

         13                 Also, because my employer provides me

         14  with family health care as well, I have always had

         15  health coverage for my children. When they were

         16  growing up, I never had to worry about nothing, not

         17  being able to take care of them. When my daughter

         18  was in second grade, she needed to have her eyes

         19  examined and get prescription glasses. And

         20  throughout the years, as her eyes changed, she

         21  needed different glasses. With my health care, I was

         22  able to provide that for her.

         23                 One time, my son, when playing

         24  basketball in high school, dislocated his shoulder.

         25  He was in a body cast for at least 11 months.
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          2  Because we had health care, I was able to make sure

          3  he got the care he needed without having to pay

          4  expensive medical bills. If I didn't have health

          5  care, I do not know what I would have done,

          6  especially as a senior citizen. I would probably be

          7  out on the street. I would probably be disabled.

          8  Earning a low wage, where would I get the resources

          9  to pay for doctor's visits or medicine? My children

         10  would have had to go on government health care.

         11                 I support the New York City Health

         12  Care Security Act because I believe all people

         13  deserve health care and that, as a people, we should

         14  be working to push our City forward and create a

         15  better standard of living. If we do not stop the

         16  increase in health care gap now, what will happen?

         17  We must address the health care gap in this country

         18  and build for the future. If we do not make a change

         19  now, we might all lose our health care.

         20                 But I also support the New York City

         21  Health Care Security Act because I believe employers

         22  like mine, who provide health care, should not feel

         23  as if they have to cut costs on the backs of their

         24  employees to stay competitive. We need to stop this

         25  race to the bottom and help our employers who do
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          2  provide a certain standard of wages and benefits to

          3  their employees.

          4                 I do not have a diploma or degree

          5  which I'm not ashamed to say. But that doesn't mean

          6  I don't have common sense. I am the working people

          7  and I know how to live. We are making minimum wage.

          8  We are living backwards and we are working from

          9  paycheck to paycheck. Sometimes we must choose

         10  between food, rent, and medicine. As more and more

         11  people lose their health care, I feel as if we are

         12  going backwards, as if we are moving back in time.

         13                 If you would bear with me, I'm going

         14  to show you how very important health care is to me.

         15  A couple of years ago, I had a grandson. He was born

         16  on November 14, 1999. Here is a picture of him. At

         17  six months, he developed out of his mother's womb.

         18  He was in the hospital. He weighed one pound, 14

         19  ounces. Because of health care, I can stand here to

         20  say, he made his fifth birthday and now he can call

         21  me and he can say, Happy Birthday Grandma. So I

         22  encourage all of you to support this and thank you

         23  panel for a wonderful job. Let's merge together and

         24  bring this thing to action.

         25                 MS. BEAUMONT: Hello, good afternoon
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          2  everybody. I'm Aysha Beaumont. I work at Pathmark on

          3  Bruckner Boulevard. I work on the front end. I'm

          4  here to testify today because I believe more people

          5  like me should have health insurance for themselves

          6  and for their families. Pathmark is a pretty good

          7  employer. I am paid a fair wage for what I do. I am

          8  able to take time off when I need to. I get overtime

          9  on Sunday's and I even have a pension plan paid for

         10  100 percent by Pathmark. And even though I'm just

         11  part time, I receive health insurance. This may not

         12  seem unusual to you. But for me and others who work

         13  in grocery stores and other service jobs, we know

         14  that we are fortunate to have health coverage from

         15  our jobs because not everyone who works in a grocery

         16  story does.

         17                 Why do some employers give health

         18  insurance to their workers and others don't? It

         19  doesn't seem fair to the workers. Quality and

         20  affordable health care is important for me and my

         21  family. Most importantly, I want to be a full- time

         22  worker one day and eligible for expanded benefits

         23  available to full- timers and their families.

         24  Because Pathmark acts responsibly and provides

         25  health care for all of their workers as well as
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          2  part- time at no cost to us and other grocers do

          3  not, Pathmark is at a competitive disadvantage. This

          4  limits Pathmark's ability to offer more full- time

          5  jobs and provider broader health insurance to more

          6  people. Do people not understand the simple concept

          7  that when more people are insured, society benefits.

          8                 I can't afford to pay for complete

          9  family insurance on my own. If I can't for it, my

         10  family suffers. While the part- time plan paid by

         11  employers is generous, it does not cover all the

         12  expenses it would if I was full- time. I do not

         13  blame my employer for this. No, I blame other

         14  grocers who do not pick up their fair share of the

         15  problem. They are free riders on the backs of people

         16  like me and my employer and you. What will happen if

         17  my family faces an emergency or accident? Without

         18  greater health insurance from my job, we would be

         19  destroyed. If anything unexpected happens like a

         20  heart attack or a serious illness, we would be

         21  devastated financially. Those things would cost

         22  thousands of dollars that we just don't have.

         23                 I am here testifying today because it

         24  is important that all companies give health

         25  insurance to their employees. We all deserve it. It
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          2  shouldn't depend on whether the grocery store we

          3  work in it covers us or not. I know that if other

          4  grocers in the City don't give health insurance, it

          5  makes it harder for my company to continuing giving

          6  it to me and my family. As the economic playing

          7  field becomes less balanced, people will shop at

          8  stores with the cheapest prices. Because Pathmark is

          9  a responsible employer and provides for their

         10  workers, their prices will be slightly higher.

         11  People will shop in the stores and other companies

         12  will have to cut their insurance in order to keep

         13  prices low and keep people in their stores. This is

         14  unacceptable. But in conclusion, I ask that you pass

         15  the Health Care Security Act so that the insurance

         16  for me and my family will be protected and so that

         17  other people would join and work in jobs like mine

         18  at Pathmark, who will ensure and protect themselves

         19  and their families. Thank you for your time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Again, you all

         21  said it so well and effectively that none of us have

         22  any questions. But I want to say you have a

         23  beautiful grandson. The difference between the

         24  coverage that you have and the coverage that you

         25  have as only a part- time employee really I think is
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          2  a very dramatic example. But what we're trying to

          3  solve here because if your child had the same

          4  problem; if you had a grandchild or child that was

          5  born premature, you might not have coverage that

          6  could afforded the child the same really critical

          7  care. If the child would have gotten the care

          8  anyway, say at a HHC facility, the City would have

          9  paid for it. We would want that child to get that

         10  care. But it's not really fair that the City has to

         11  pay for it when the goal would be more appropriate

         12  for the employer be helping you get that coverage. I

         13  want to thank you all for giving your testimony.

         14                 You've a heard of lot experts and

         15  business leaders and government officials talk and

         16  that's all great. But it's much harder to talk in a

         17  setting like this when it's your personal story.

         18  It's much easier when it's kind of abstract about

         19  your business. I want to thank you all for being so

         20  honest and willing to come forward and share with us

         21  about your personal situation. That is always the

         22  best testimony. You didn't let us down. Go ahead.

         23                 MS. MILLIGAN: That's why I mentioned

         24  it. I'm proud because my kids, I educate my kids.

         25  And they have diplomas. But that's why after hearing
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          2  all of these hypothetical words and these big shots,

          3  I said I don't have a diploma. But that doesn't mean

          4  you don't have common sense. That's why I mentioned

          5  that. I'm proud.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: There you go.

          7  Thank you. And on that note, we are adjourned.

          8                 (Meeting Adjourned)

          9                 (Following written testimony was read

         10  into the record)

         11  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

             STEPHEN GIANOTTI

         12  PRESIDENT

             ARCADIA ELECTRICAL CONTRACTORS

         13

         14                 Hello, my name is Stephen Gianotti

         15  and I am President of Arcadia Electrical Contractors

         16  in Ridgewood, Queens. I have been in the electrical

         17  business since 1988 and as an owner of a small

         18  business, I support the New York City Health Care

         19  Security Act because I believe it will enable

         20  businesses like mine to be responsible employers and

         21  still compete in the highly competitive construction

         22  market.

         23                 I have been in business for 16 years

         24  providing electrical services to the community. When

         25  I first started my business, I had jobs in both the
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          2  residential and commercial markets. Even though I am

          3  a smaller business, I was able to successfully

          4  compete in both markets.

          5                 But slowly, it has become more and

          6  more difficult for me to compete in the residential

          7  market because, as a business that provides health

          8  care for its employees, I can not compete with

          9  businesses that do not give their workers health

         10  care. My competitors in the residential market

         11  consistently underbid me on projects because they do

         12  not have the added cost of health care. Also, as a

         13  smaller business, it is more difficult for me to

         14  absorb increasing health care costs.

         15                 Now, I can only find work in the

         16  commercial sector and have moved away from

         17  residential projects. This makes it increasingly

         18  difficult for my business to do well because I am

         19  completely locked out of a significant segment of

         20  the market. I have lost hundreds of thousands of

         21  dollars in income because of this.

         22                 Personally, I provide health

         23  insurance for my employees because I believe that

         24  everyone deserves these benefits. We have too many

         25  people in this City without health insurance and I
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          2  believe that businesses should help in providing

          3  health care. What do you gain by not providing

          4  health care? The emergency rooms are full. People

          5  end up depending on the government and taxpayers. I

          6  think everyone should have health care and that is

          7  something everyone should receive when they are

          8  working.

          9                 As a business- owner, I also benefit

         10  from providing my workers with health care. My

         11  workers are healthier and more committed when they

         12  have health care and that improves their

         13  productivity and quality of work. But I also believe

         14  that, especially as a small business, I should not

         15  be put at a competitive disadvantage for taking care

         16  of the people who work for me. All businesses should

         17  provide health care for their workers so that we

         18  level the playing field and do not punish

         19  responsible businesses for taking care of their

         20  employees.

         21                 This is why I support the New York

         22  City Health Care Security Act. By making all

         23  businesses provide health care for their employees,

         24  this bill will help make smaller businesses like

         25  mine that are struggling to do the right thing be
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          2  more competitive in the market. If everyone is doing

          3  the same thing, if all businesses are paying for the

          4  cost of health care, then we will all be competing

          5  at the same level and we can all stay in business.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 12:48 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 10th day of December 2004.
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